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Board of Directors Report

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

T

he Board of Directors of XacBank is pleased to present to you its report of the results achieved by the Bank
in 2005. The primary responsibility of the Board is to provide strategic guidance to the management of the
Bank in fulfilling its goals and adhering to the Mission and Vision of the organization.

The Board met five times in plenary sessions during the year, deliberating on issues ranging from strategic decisions
on the Bank’s Strategic Plan, new equity investments and real estate acquisitions as well as operational matters
such as review and approval of quarterly performance reports, annual budgets and productive performance of
staff.
Four standing committees and the Board Executive Committee provided detailed technical input for the plenary
meetings, and reviewed important agenda items between the Board meetings. Individual members of the Board
also took part in various public events organized by the Bank during the year.
A milestone in the development of the Bank and a highlight of the year for the Mongolian banking sector was
the investment by two international investment funds into XAC-GE LLC, the holding company of XacBank. A
combined USD 2.0 Million equity investment concluded on September 30, 2005 by investment funds managed
by Triodos Bank of Holland and ShoreCap International, USA, has helped XacBank meet the minimum capital
requirement set by the Bank of Mongolia. Coupled with earlier investments by MicroVest, USA and Tuushin
LLC these investments allowed the Bank to meet the capital requirement hurdle well in advance of the official
deadline. Of no less significance was the consultative support from its founding shareholder Mercy Corps and the
technical expertise and best practices from their long history of socially responsible investments brought by the
team of new investors.
There were several changes in the membership of the Board in 2005: Mr. Jargalsayhan Ser-Od resigned due to
changes in the management of the Rotary Club of Ulaanbaatar and was replaced by Mr. Behbat Sodnom; Ms.
Tumenbayar Nyamaa resigned to accept a position with the IFC’s Leasing Project and NAMAC appointed Mr. Huhii
Suhbaatar in her stead; Mr. Galbaatar Tuvden resigned to accept the appointment as Mongolia’s Ambassador
Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary to Germany and was replaced by Ms. Erdenejargal Perenley, Executive Director,
MFOS. The Board wishes its departing colleagues well and warmly welcomes their replacements.
The Board also welcomes members appointed by our new international investors: Mr. Gil Crawford, General
Manager of MicroVest, Ms. Anne Arvia, Chief Executive Officer of ShoreBank and Ms. Femke Bos, Senior
Investment Officer of Triodos Funds Management. We appreciate the arrival of new directors and firmly believe in
the value they will bring as professionals with significant experience in banking and microfinance.
Another important change occurred later in the year when NAMAC, a founding shareholder, elected to sell its
shares. Since the shareholders closely hold the shares, the Bank assisted NAMAC to identify a local strategic
investor to join its shareholder ranks. In December, Newcom LLC, the holding company of Mobicom, Mongolia’s
largest cellular phone service provider, purchased NAMAC’s 3.43 percent holding in XAC-GE LLC. The Board
welcomed Mr. Hiroshi Tanto, Chief Executive Officer of Newcom LLC, at its first meeting in 2006.
Operationally, the Bank continued to produce impressive growth in 2005 with an 88 percent increase in total
assets amounting to MNT 59.3 billion. As result of the new investments and strong earnings the Bank achieved
an 87 percent increase in loans totaling MNT 38 billion; a 97 percent increase in deposits totaling MNT 31 billion
and a 96 percent increase in shareholders equity totaling MNT 9.5 billion during the reporting period.

This growth was reflected in the bottom line as well, with after tax profits rising by 89 percent for the year to MNT
1,489 million, generating a record high 23.6 percent return on average equity.
The Bank continued to invest in its business during the year establishing presence in all of the major population
centers in Mongolia bringing the total to 55 units by the end of the reporting year. In addition to this, XacBank
now covers 165 soums with mobile banking services and has franchising agreements with 51 savings and loan
cooperatives in those soums. The number of full-time staff at year-end reached 617 along with 495 part-time
staff, who collaborate with us in delivering banking services in rural areas.
The loan portfolio grew by a healthy 87 percent in the past year maintaining the excellent quality of on-time
repayment of the previous reporting period. The year-end portfolio at risk, calculated inclusive of all loans with
late payments of more than one day, stood at a historic low of 0.97 percent, a continued improvement from the
1.03 percent rate reported at the end of 2004. The Bank hit another milestone on the last day of business in 2005
– its 50,000th active borrower.
Mongolia is experiencing a surge in its real estate markets in recent years and the Bank chose to participate in
this development by purchasing its headquarters building during the course of the year. With a superb location
and high client recognition, the Bank is confident that this investment will be a solid long-term asset, while at the
same time eliminating the uncertainties of the rental market in the short-run.
With the trust vested in the Board by our shareholders, we have reviewed and approved the Bank’s Three Year
Business Plan in the beginning of the year. The Plan envisages XacBank becoming one of the dominant players in
the financial sector of the country based on continuous innovation in providing financial services to the majority of
the population. Creative staff, flexible technology and a dynamic culture will drive the growth during this period
and beyond.
To accommodate this growth, the Bank requires a management team with depth and talent. The Bank was very
pleased to bring on Mr. Bold Magvan to the senior management team as its President. A senior banker with
extensive experience, a former Deputy Governor of the Bank of Mongolia, and more recently a consultant with
the World Bank and IMF in Washington D.C., Mr. Bold brings a wealth of management experience along with his
vision and insight to the organization. We welcome Mr. Bold to XacBank and wish him well in this challenging
position.
In 2006, XacBank will consolidate on the gains attained in the past by continuing to build a bank with an
impeccable reputation, solid management, excellent governance and transparent ownership structure, while
continuously strengthening the Bank’s position and increasing its market share.
The 2006 budget foresees sustained strong growth for the Bank in terms of both size and profitability while
extending its outreach to the rural markets and institutionalizing its presence across the country. The management
will focus all its energy on delivering value to the customer, which will in turn result in enhanced shareholder
value.
With the authority placed in the Board of Directors by the shareholders, the Board approved payment of cash
dividends in the total amount of MNT 450 million, or MNT 56.01 per share, to the shareholders of the Bank based
on operational and financial performance results of 2005.
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Management Report
“Perfection is achieved, not when there is nothing more to add,
but when there is nothing left to take away.”
Antoine de Saint Exupery

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The management is pleased to report on the Bank’s operational and financial results for fiscal 2005 - the UN
International Year of Microcredit.
Despite climbing LIBOR and amid stiff competition and downward trends in lending rates, the Bank implemented
tighter cost controls, grew its market share and achieved record earnings for the year. The 2005 after tax net
profit of MNT 1,488.9 Million reflects an 89 percent increase over 2004 results and ensuring a return on average
equity of 23.62 percent for the year. Although it is slightly below the target, the Bank made significant capital
investments during the year, which will better position it for further stronger performance.
The Bank received 1.58 CAMELS rating1 from the Bank of Mongolia for 2005 performance - the highest ever
issued by the Central Bank - in addition to its second consecutive Honorable Mention from CGAP for achievement
of high level of disclosure standards in the CGAP Financial Transparency Awards competition, which recognizes
institutions that demonstrate a high degree of transparency in financial reporting.
Total assets of the Bank grew by 87.5 percent amounting to MNT 59.3 billion in 2005, largely due to an 87.5
percent increase in loans. At year-end, with a 3.7 percent of market share2 in total assets XacBank ranked 9th
among Mongolia’s 17 commercial banks. The doubling of public deposits and the capital base, as well as additional
external borrowings from international institutions supported this growth. During the year, the Bank extended
85 thousand loans with a total value of MNT 76.6 billion, and ended the year with 50,101 loans outstanding for
MNT 38.1 billion, ranking XacBank second in number of loans outstanding for 2005 among all Mongolian banks.
In addition, the Bank continues to hold the top ranking in the country in terms of loan portfolio quality with
portfolio-at-risk (PAR) with late payments over 1 day of 0.97 percent at year end, while writing-off only 16 loans
during the year for a total of MNT 10.5 million, or 0.036 percent of the average portfolio.
The Bank also had a very successful year in attracting deposits, doubling its deposit base to MNT 30.9 billion
and ending 2005 with 118 thousand total current and savings accounts. The Bank’s “National Brand of the
Year” award winning Future Millionaire savings account saw an increase in its balances by 72.9 percent or
MNT 5.3 billion in 43,613 accounts and stands firmly in the first place among similar products offered by the
competition.
The Bank continued to grow the number offices during the year, opening 3 new branches and 16 extension units,
bringing the total number of retail outlets to 55 from 36 at year end 2004. The number of Bank’s staff reached
617, representing a 21.93 percent increase for this year.
Under its “Ger Initiative” program, the Bank opened 8 extension units in Ulaanbaatar alone to deliver banking
services to residents of the city’s ger districts4. This resulted in an increase in the number of borrowers from ger
district residents from 66 percent of all Ulaanbaatar borrowers to 71 percent, or 6,287 borrowers.
As stipulated in the Action Plan for 2005, the Bank dedicated significant resources to expanding its mobile
banking and franchising services in the remote rural areas of Mongolia. Under its “Rural Initiative”, XacBank
ended 2005 with 51 franchisee cooperatives, up from 8 in the prior year, providing 165 soums with financial
services. By year-end 2005, 495 members from soums served on the Bank’s rural Loan Approval Committees
and helped the Bank to build a portfolio of 14,088 rural borrowers with MNT 7.3 billion outstanding in soums
outside the reach of its branches. The Bank also collaborated with Mercy Corps, the International Fund for
Agricultural Development (IFAD), Microfinance Development Fund (MDF) and Asian Development Bank (ADB) in
implementing its Rural Initiative program.
1

Capital adequacy, Asset quality, Management capacity, Earnings, Liquidity, interest rate Sensitivity. Rating from 5 (bad) to 1 (excellent).
As a percentage of total banking sector assets. Bank of Mongolia’s Bulletin, December 2005.
This count does not take into account the spin-off of XacSecurity as result of which 83 security staff of the Bank was transferred to the new wholly owned subsidiary of XAC-GE
LLC. Otherwise, staff growth would have been 38.3 percent.
4
Low-income suburban settlements surrounding the city mostly inhabited by migrants from rural areas.
2
3

At MNT 9,545.6 million, the Bank’s capital grew by 96.4 percent by the end of 2005 as result of new investment
and retained earnings. This is particularly significant as it places the Bank within the Bank of Mongolia’s 2006
minimum capital requirement of MNT 8.0 billion, well ahead of the established April 1 deadline. The increase
in equity came through investments by such prominent international investors as MicroVest LLP (USA), TriodosDoen and Triodos Fair Share Fund (Netherlands) and ShoreCap International (USA) as well as Mongolian investor
Tuushin LLC, which increased its stake by over MNT 751.5 million or to 14.36 percent. All shareholders are
owners of XAC-GE LLC, a holding company, which in turn holds the shares of the Bank. Finally, in the 4th Quarter
of 2005, the staff of the Bank pooled their ESOP shareholdings to form Employee Investment Trust LLC (EIT),
which in turn owned 9.5 percent of XAC-GE LLC as of the year-end.
In order to promote housing savings, the Bank launched in the 1st Quarter a new savings product -Xac-Urgoo
(Xac-Palace) - simultaneously with its residential home mortgage product. The mortgage product proved extremely
popular with the clients, and the Bank generated a portfolio of MNT 4,664.8 million disbursed to 606 households
across the country by the year-end.
In June, the Bank issued its first MasterCard. The cards gained acceptance immediately and a range of cards
including debit and credit cards, local and international, individual and corporate are available to its customers.
At the end of the year, the Bank had over 9,000 cards issued with outstanding balance of MNT 227.8 million in
debit balances and MNT 165.9 million in overdrafts.
The Bank joined the SWIFT network in 2004 and established correspondent banking relationships with Bayerische
Hypo-Und Vereinsbank AG (Germany) and HSBC (USA) to facilitate international payments and provide additional
international services for its clients. The Bank plans to establish additional correspondent relationships aimed to
enhance the Bank’s international funds transfer services in the coming year.
The Bank’s “Instant Money Transfer Module” (IMTM) was developed in-house by its IT staff, allowing clients access
to their accounts from anywhere in the Bank’s off-line network of branches. As result of dedicated team effort, by
the end of the reporting year XacBank had on-line connectivity with all its Ulaanbaatar based branches.
The Bank entered into agreements with several leading telecommunications companies to market their Prepaid
and IP cards. There are also opportunities in other areas: in one instance, the Bank’s lending staff sold automobile
insurance policies issued by a local insurer.
The Bank concluded a series of funding transactions during the year, including its first Euro-denominated
borrowing. The Bank concluded debt transactions with OikoCredit (Netherlands), Blue Orchard (Switzerland),
International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), the Microfinance Development Fund (World Bank) and
the Employment Generation Fund (Mongolian Government).

Management Team

7

As the Bank enters another year, with its innovative products, competitive prices and a highly motivated staff the
Bank is well positioned to meet, both financially and operationally, the challenges of a highly competitive market.
The Bank looks forward to reaffirming and exceeding the aggressive goals set forth and to marking another
successful year in the impressive history of XacBank.

XacBank

In an effort to share some of its knowledge and experience with younger institutions, the Bank provided in-house
training through microfinance workshops to institutions of neighboring countries. In 2005, the Bank received
representatives from Bai Tushum in Kyrgyzstan as well as the Tianjin Microfinance Women’s Association (China).
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Management Team

Mr. Chuluun GANHUYAG
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Magvan BOLD
President

Mr. Adyasuren BATBOLD
Chief Operating Officer

Ms. Dorjgotov ERDENECHIMEG
Director, Internal Audit Division

Ms. Bayanjargal DELGERJARGAL
Chief Credit Officer
Director, Credit Management Division

Mr. Lhagvasuren SORONZONBOLD
Executive Vice President
Director, Strategic Planning and marketing Division

Mr. Dugersuren BAT-OCHIR
Chief Financial Officer
Director, Finance, Planning and Reporting Division

Mr. Baramsai GANBAT
Director, Operations Division

The Bank, through XAC-GE LLC, closed on USD 2 million of new equity in September. ShoreCap
International (USA) and Triodos Doen/Triodos Fair Share Fund (Netherlands) invested USD 1 million each
and provided a total of USD 1.5 million in term debt. A portion of the Triodos loan was denominated
in local currency, while ShoreCap International contributed approximately USD 80,000 in Technical
Assistance, which the Bank will use to develop its mid-level management staff and enhance its internal
control systems.

•

The Bank paid out a cash dividend of MNT 127.0 million from its 2004 profits to its shareholders and
declared a cash dividend of MNT 450.0 million for 2005.

•

The Bank purchased its headquarters building, garage and surrounding land for approximately USD 2.0
million.

•

The Bank’s Future Millionaire savings product was awarded the 2004 National Brand title by the
Mongolian National Chamber of Commerce and Industry and the Mongolian National Intellectual
Property Commission

•

KPMG performed an audit of the Bank’s information technology systems and IT procedures - first audit
of this kind in Mongolia.

•

During the year, the Rural Lending Department negotiated franchising agreements with 39 rural savings
and credit cooperatives of which 36 were established directly by the Bank.

•

In September, the Bank celebrated the completion of the 3-year USAID Implementation Grant Program
(IGP) implemented in cooperation with Mercy Corps. The Program provided funds for establishment of
a MIS system, long and short-term technical assistance to help the Bank with new product development
and rural expansion, as well as rural branch renovation.

•

The Bank’s Nalayh branch, located in a remote district of Ulaanbaatar, renovated under the IGP grant
became the winner of the “Best Interior Design” prize in a competition organized by the Ulaanbaatar City
Mayor’s Office.

•

Ms. Anne Arvia, CEO, ShoreBank, Ms. Femke Bos, Senior Investment Officer, Triodos Bank and Mr. Gil
Crawford, General Manager of MicroVest LLP joined the Boards of XacBank and XAC-GE LLC.

•

Three XacBank clients together with XacBank’s “Development Guide” franchising service won four of the
six Global Microentrepreneurship Awards awarded by UNDP in recognition of the Year of Microcredit.

•

Former Deputy Governor of the Bank of Mongolia, Mr. Bold Magvan joined the management team of
XacBank in December 2005 as its President.

•

Newcom LLC, the holding company of Mobicom, became a shareholder of XAC-GE LLC.

•

In December, the Bank of Mongolia granted its ”Best CEO of the Year” 2005 award to Mr. Ganhuyag
Ch. Hutagt of XacBank for ”his contribution to creating a sustainable banking organization, being an
innovative leader in the microfinance sector and his participation in attracting foreign investment to
Mongolia’s banking sector”.

•

The Bank of Mongolia completed a full on-site inspection of XacBank in 2005 and granted the highest
- CAMELS - grade distinguishing from all other local commercial banks.

•

The Bank also won in a recent competition sponsored by the Consultative Group to Assist the Poor
(CGAP) receiving its Honorable Mention award for the high level of transparency and disclosure standards
in its financial reporting.
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2005

2004

GROWTH AND OUTREACH

Change
(05-04) (05-04)/04

Total Assets

59,252.3

31,598.8

27,654

87.5

Total Equity

9,545.6

4,859.9

4,686

96.4

38,077.9

20,313.6

17,764

87.5

50,101

31,962

18,139

56.8

Gross Loan Portfolio
Number of Active Borrowers
Deposits

27,226.6

14,331.9

12,895

90.0

Number of Depositors

65,056

39,166

25,890

66.1

Balance of Current Accounts

3,671.5

1,364.5

2,307

169.1

Number of Current Accounts

53,773

39,212

14,561

37.1

9,030

-

9,030

n.a.

51

12

39

325.0

Number of Members

2,400

368

2,032

552.2

Total Assets

336.5

57.6

279

484.2

Number of Card Holders
Number of Franchisee Coops

Total Loan Portfolio

312.8

46.1

267

578.8

29,827.0

16,307.4

13,520

82.9

9,969.3

8,622.3

1,347

15.6

19,857.7

7,685.1

12,173

158.4

Number of Staff

617

506

111

21.9

Number of LAC members/volunteers

495

279

216

77.4

55

36

19

52.8

165

93

72

77.4

1,488.9

787.5

701

89.1

Return on Assets (%)

3.30

3.42

(0.12)

(3.4)

Return on Equity (%)

23.62

18.60

5.02

27.0

Financial Self-Sufficiency (%)

122.92

116.93

5.99

5.1

Operational Self-Sufficiency (%)

124.45

123.05

1.41

1.1

Earnings per Share (MNT)

185.32

187.25

(1.93)

(1.0)

Yield on Portfolio (%)

32.75

37.01

(4.26)

(11.5)

Operating Cost ratio (%)

71.51

68.77

2.74

4.0

Deposit to Loan ratio (%)

81.14

77.27

3.87

5.0

PAR > 1 day (%)

0.97

1.03

(0.06)

(5.9)

Savers per Staff Member

105

77

28.04

36.2

28.36

26.28

2.08

7.9

286

240

45.98

19.1

217.59

152.73

64.85

42.5

Inflation Rate (%)

9.50

11.00

(1.50)

(13.6)

GDP Growth Rate (%)

6.20

10.60

(4.50)

(42.1)

888.36

758.71

129.65

17.1

1,221

1,209

12.00

1.0

Total Volume of Remittances
Domestic Money Remittance
International Transfers & Remittance

Number of Branches and Extension Units
Number of Soums Covered
PROFITABILITY AND PRODUCTIVITY
Net Profit After Tax

Loan Officer Ratio (%)
Loan Officer Productivity
Portfolio per Credit Officer
* OTHER

GDP per Capita
Exchange Rate (USD/MNT)

* Source: Ministry Of Finance of Mongolia 2005

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
MACRO ECONOMIC SITUATION
Due to continued expansion and development of the mining, quarrying, and agricultural sectors, the real economic
growth of Mongolia reached 10.6 percent in 2004 and 6.24 percent in 2005. Mongolia has achieved such high
growth rates only in the very recent few years since it embarked on its transition to a market economy and started
building a democratic society.
Mongolia’s economy is still heavily dependent on its neighbors for key economic building blocks. Mongolia
purchases 80 percent of its petroleum products and a substantial amount of its electric power from Russia, leaving
it vulnerable to price increases. China is Mongolia’s chief export partner and the main source of the unreported
“shadow” or “grey” economy. The World Bank and other international financial institutions estimate this cash
economy to be at least equal to that of the official economy, although it is very hard to measure its actual size.
Remittances from Mongolians abroad constitute a sizeable portion of the GDP estimated at approximately USD
200 million per annum.
In 2005, the inflation rate came down to 9.5 percent, showing a 1.7 percent decrease from the previous year.
The average interbank exchange rate for USD against MNT increased by 1 percent during the past year, reaching
MNT 1,221 in 2005.
Total revenue and grants to the Government budget was MNT 833.3 billion and total expenditures and net
lending totaled MNT 772.9 billion. As a result, the overall budget balance had a surplus of MNT 83.0 billion. The
current account balance had a surplus of MNT 240.2 billion, which is an increase of 45.9 percent or MNT 75.6
billion compared to the previous year.
In 2005, total external trade turnover reached USD 2.2 billion, of which exports earned USD 1,053.7 million, while
imports constituted USD 1,148.7 million. The total external trade balance turned a deficit of USD 95.0 million
– lowest in Mongolia’s recent history.

POVERTY
In spite of substantial economic growth rates achieved by Mongolia, the key problems in the social sphere, such as
unemployment and poverty, remained high failing to show any substantial decrease. According to the Household
Income and Expenditure Survey 2002-2003, this remains a serious problem with 36.1 percent of the population
living in poverty. Mongolia is in 44th place among other countries in poverty indicators as ranked by the Human
Development Report, 2005. The survey indicates that 27 percent of the population earns a daily income of less
than USD 1. The number of registered unemployed decreased by 7.4 percent or down by 2.6 thousand persons
from the 35, 6 thousand registered in 2004, reducing the official unemployment rate to 3.5 percent in 20055.

11

By the end of 2005, 17 banks, 141 non-bank financial institutions (NBFI) and more than 570 savings and credit
cooperatives (SCC) were offering financial services throughout Mongolia. The total assets of the banking sector
increased by 42.9 percent over 2004 totals amounting to MNT 1,585.0 billion in 2005. At the end of 2005 the
banking sector’s total outstanding loans increased by 41.7 percent over the previous year, reaching MNT 859.8
billion. Of these, 94.1 percent were loans to the private sector, with the remaining 5.9 percent going to public
and other sectors. Non-performing loans in the sector reached MNT 70.4 billion, which represents 8.2 percent of
total loans outstanding.

XacBank

BANKING AND FINANCIAL SECTOR

5

www.nso.mn

12
Annual Report 2005

LOAN PORTFOLIO REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
In spite of rising competition in the financial sector, the Bank had a successful year in its lending activity with
an 87 percent or MNT 38.1 billion increase in loans outstanding. Expansion of market shares both in urban and
rural markets, development and successful launching of new loan products as well as adjustments in credit and
interest rate policies of the Bank facilitated this growth in 2005. Interest rates on all loan products of the Bank
were brought down in the beginning of the year to adjust to current market conditions and as well as to boost
loan demand. The number of active borrowers rose by 57 percent for the year bringing the number of loans to
50,101 at year-end.

PORTFOLIO GROWTH/NUMBER OF ACTIVE LOANS

In 2005 the Bank focused on increasing its lending activity in the rural areas and among the low-income
population in urban “ger districts”. In addition to developing long-term loans such as residential mortgages, the
Bank concentrated on expanding its outreach to small and medium sized entrepreneurs, while maintaining its
existing micro-loan products. As result of this comprehensive approach, the Bank’s market share within the total
banking sector loans grew from 3.3 percent in 2004 to 4.4 percent at year-end 2005.

Number of Clients by products comparing to
Banking System of Mongolia
Banking System

XacBank

market share

2004

2005

2004

2005

2004

2005

Number of current account holders 692,564

899,631

39,212

53,773

5.66%

55.98%

Number of depositors

525,002

627,629

39,166

65,056

7.46%

10.37%

Number of borrowers

242,304

322,664

31,962

50,101

13.19%

15.53%

Source: BOM statistic

Key indicators of the loan portfolio are presented in the table below:
Indicators

2005

2004

Change

Percent

Loans Disbursed (MNT million)

85,132

53,105

32,027

60.3

Amount Disbursed (MNT million)

76,582

42,863

33,719

78.7

Average Loan Size (MNT)

899,568

807,135

92,433

11.5

Total Number of Loans Disbursed Since 1998

223,634

138,502

85,132

61.5

Total Amount of Loans Disbursed Since 1998 ( MNT million)

165,958

89,376

76,582

85.7

Number of Active Loans at Year-end

50,101

31,962

18,139

56.8

Total Loan Portfolio (MNT million)

38,078

20,314

17,764

87.4

Average Loan Balance (MNT)

760,023

635,553

124,470

19.6

Number of Loans Per Loan Officer

286

240

46

19.2

Loan Portfolio Per Loan Officer (MNT million)

218

153

65

42.5

Market Share

4.4

3.35

1.05

31.3

During 2005, the Bank disbursed MNT 76.6 billion in 85,132 loans, which represents a 78.7 percent increase from
the previous year. In cumulative terms, since 1998 the Bank has extended 223,634 loans for MNT 165.9 billion.

As of December 2005, there were 15 branches with outstanding
loan portfolio of more than MNT 1.0 billion each and the
number of branches with more than one thousand active
borrowers reached
The average loan outstanding at year-end increased to MNT 760 thousand from MNT 635 thousand in 2004 due
to increased disbursement of larger SME loans as well as the Bank’s home mortgage program. This has resulted in
a decrease in micro business loans (Start-up and Growth) as a percentage of the total portfolio from 50.4 percent
to 41 percent. Although micro business loans decreased as a percentage of the total portfolio, there was a sizable
increase of 52.3 percent in outstanding portfolio of micro loans during the reporting period.
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From early 2005, in response to higher economic growth and rising competition in the banking sector, the Bank
reduced interest rates on all loan products by 3-12 percentage points. Due to this reduction in interest rate and the
launch of a new home mortgage product at 15-19 percent interest rate per annum, the weighted average interest
rate on the entire loan portfolio decreased by 5.2 points to 34.2 percent for loans in MNT and 17.2 percent for
USD denominated loans. This slight reduction in the portfolio yield down to 32.75 percent was predicted by the
Bank, and the Business Plan envisages remedying the situation through increased service fees.
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BORROWERS AND PORTFOLIO STRUCTURE
BORROWERS
THE PERCENTAGE OF BORROWERS ENGAGED IN SMALL AND INFORMAL BUSINESSES TOGETHER WITH SALARIED PEOPLE REMAINED HIGH AT A COMBINED
88.1 PERCENT. HOWEVER, THE PERCENTAGE OF SMALL OR INFORMAL BUSINESS BORROWERS DECREASED BY 7.7 PERCENT AND AS OF YEAR-END
OF 2005 COMPRISED 38.4 PERCENT OF THE TOTAL NUMBER OF BORROWERS, WHILE THE NUMBER OF SALARIED BORROWERS INCREASED BY 1.1
PERCENT. THE PERCENTAGE OF SME BORROWERS REMAINED ALMOST UNCHANGED WHEREAS THE PERCENTAGE OF HERDER BORROWERS INCREASED
SIGNIFICANTLY TO ALMOST 6.7 PERCENT OF TOTAL NUMBER OF BORROWERS FROM 1.7 PERCENT A YEAR EARLIER AS RESULT OF THE BANK’S RURAL
LENDING EFFORTS.

CLIENTELE (NUMBER OF BORROWERS)

LOAN PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION
Due to the launch of home mortgage, loans comprising 12.3 percent of the total loan portfolio at year-end
the composition of the loan portfolio changed significantly. The percentage of loans to the trade sector at 41.2
percent was 4.0 percent lower than in the prior year.

PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION

The share of consumption loans constituted 19.9 percent of the total portfolio, which is 5.6 percent lower than
reported in the previous year. The percentage of loans for production decreased by 1.1 percent and comprised
approximately 6.6 percent of the total loan portfolio at year-end compared to 7.7 at year-end 2004. There were
less significant changes at combined 1.6 percent in the remaining segments of the total loan portfolio.

LOAN PORTFOLIO STRUCTURE
Among total borrowers, 78 percent borrowed less than MNT 1.0 million, while 33.9 percent borrowed less than
MNT 300,000.
NUMBER OF BORROWERS BY

A LOAN SIZE
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Consistent with its mission as a micro-lender, over 99 percent of the Bank’s total borrowers received loans less
than MNT 5 million. Additionally, women borrowers comprise 53 percent of total number of borrowers while
loans taken by women comprise 48 percent of the total loan portfolio.

XacBank

BORROWERS’ STRUCTURE
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GER AREA LENDING
Providing comprehensive financial services to ger area residents is an essential part of the Bank’s mission. Within
the framework of this mission, the Bank established a Ger Initiative working group to expand service outreach
in ger areas. The result was that the number of borrowers in ger areas reached 71 percent of total borrowers in
Ulaanbaatar (excluding Nalayh and Baganuur districts) while in terms of portfolio size, loans extended to ger area
residents comprise 38 percent of the Bank’s total portfolio in Ulaanbaatar.
In order to meet the demand for financial services in ger areas, the Bank is working through partially remunerated
representatives located in ger neighborhoods to promote its services and products; initiated mobile banking
services along with opening extension units as part of expansion of its outreach to ger areas. The Bank collaborates
with CHF International’s Ger Initiative project as well as other NGO’s, donor agencies and government funded
projects on this initiative.

GER AREA LENDING BY DISTRICT
Districts of Ulaanbaatar

Total Number of Loans Disbursed
in Ger Areas

Total Number of Loans Disbursed
in Ger Areas

2005

2004

2005

2004

Suhbaatar

1.559

322

1,047.6

149.3

Bayanzurh

1.789

478

1,116.5

278.7

Chingeltey

792

719

488.8

520.9

Bayangol

355

216

244.1

115.5

Songino Hairhan

927

688

555.3

449.4

Han-Uul

865

827

407.6

425.9

6.287

3.250

3,860.0

1.939.7

TOTAL

NEW LOAN PRODUCTS
RESIDENTIAL HOUSING LOAN - MORTGAGE
Due to continued migration to urban areas and an increase in income levels, the demand for housing increased
significantly in the recent years. The housing construction sector grew by 3 percent in 2005 to meet this increased
demand. This growth in demand is likely to continue with the number of new apartments growing not only in
Ulaanbaatar, but also in other cities and towns in the country.
In order to take opportunity of this growing demand while providing housing and housing improvement
opportunities for lower and middle-income population, the Bank developed a long-term Residential Housing Loan
product, which it piloted since April 2005. The loan term is set at up to 10 years with opportunity for customers to
borrow from 50 to 70 percent of the purchase price depending on the size of initial purchase price. The mortgage
loan is in USD with indexed repayments, both in USD and MNT, depending on the client’s source of income. The
Bank disbursed housing mortgage loans for MNT 4.7 billion to 606 households nationwide.

The Shore Cap Advisory Services conducted the technical assessment of the piloted mortgage program, training
of bank staff in the implementation of this new undertaking and related consulting. The consultants provided
technical comments and recommendations for further improvement of the mortgage loan procedures adjusting
to the analysis of the present situation and regulatory framework of the country. Implementation of these
recommendations will build a solid base for superior performance of this portfolio in the next few years.

HOME IMPROVEMENT LOAN
Beginning September 2005, the Bank started to extend home improvement loans in addition to its Household
Loan and Apartment Pledged Loan. These loans are granted for home renovation, interior decoration and
purchase of home furnishings. This loan is available for period up to 24 months with a maximum loan size of
MNT 10 million, against a lien on the residence. As of year-end, the Bank had extended 75 home-improvement
loans worth MNT 176 million.
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“X.A.C. CUP” interbank football tournament,
initiated by XacBank three years ago, was
organized by the Bank again in 2005. The
XacBank team took second place and
transferred the cup to Anod Bank, which will
organize the 2006 tournament.
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A Client Success History
Ms. Oyunchimeg Dendev is a 46- year old graduate of the College of Polytechnics (1979). Since her graduation as a
light industry technician/mechanic, she worked for the State Sewing Factory until 1995, when she decided to start
her own tailoring business. Female suits and school uniforms were the first products she made using her own sewing
machine. First, she sold her products at the market “from hand” as she could not afford to rent space. In 1996, her
husband joined the family business when he lost his job at the brick factory after its privatization. During that time,
their business was worth just above MNT 20 thousand (about USD 16). Eventually their two older children learned to
use the sewing machines and started helping their parents in the business. As the capacity increased, however, they
lacked working capital to expand the business.

DEVELOPMENT PARTNERSHIPS
MICROFINANCE DEVELOPMENT FUND
XacBank is implementing for the second consecutive year the World Bank’s Sustainable Livelihoods Project through
a sub-lending agreement with the Microfinance Development Fund. Since 2004, the Bank has participated three
times in the project procurement tenders, in total received MNT 1 billion for microloans to be extended to low
income, and geographically marginalized citizens, especially those in soums located far from provincial centers.
During this period, the Bank disbursed MNT 3.5 billion in 3,300 loans, of which 2,700 loans totaling MNT 2.7
billion were disbursed in 2005.
The project objective is to deliver sustainable microcredit services to low and middle income rural households,
citizens and microentrepreneurs to help increase their income. The Microfinance Development Fund disburses
wholesale loans to the financial institutions, winners in a tender process, to deliver microcredit services to target
population in the selected provinces covered by the project. In 2004, XacBank started disbursing microloans
under this project in Umnogovi and Uvurhangay provinces and expanded to Bayan-Ulgiy, Uvs, Bayanhongor,
Dornod, Bulgan, Govi-Altay and Tuv provinces in 2005.

RURAL POVERTY REDUCTION PROGRAM
Since 2003, XacBank has managed independently the rural financial service component of the Rural Poverty
Reduction Program of the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) and the Government of
Mongolia. Under the program, the Bank is providing rural financial services in Arhangay, Bulgan, Huvsgul and
Hentiy provinces. During 2005 a total MNT 9.3 billion in 12,222 loans were extended in soums and provincial
centers in the above-mentioned provinces, with 50.9 percent of total disbursements made in soums. At the end
of 2005, the Bank had MNT 5.0 billion in 7,678 outstanding loans, which represents an 85 percent increase
compared to the previous year. Among total borrowers in the program, 51 percent are female and over 10
percent are herders.

AGRICULTURAL SECTOR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM (ASDP)
In 2003 the Bank joined the ADB funded ASDP, which aims to enhance agricultural productivity, profitability, and
competitiveness of Mongolia while addressing declining growth in the rural economy. In 2005, a total of MNT
602.5 million was allocated to XacBank under this program for disbursement of agricultural loans in 9 provinces.
In the course of the year, the Bank had extended MNT 1.0 billion in 1,168 loans ending the year with 915
outstanding loans for MNT 600 million.
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Since 2002, XacBank has extended microloans from the EGSF to registered unemployed persons in cooperation
with the Ministry of Social Welfare and Labor. In total, MNT 500 million was placed with the Bank to disburse
microloans to support businesses to create new jobs or retain existing jobs in place. In 2005, approximately
MNT 1.2 billion in 800 loans were extended to generate or retain 1,186 jobs. At year-end, the Bank had MNT
696.6 million outstanding in 592 loans. Remote soums in rural areas and the ger districts of Ulaanbaatar were
the primary recipients of the employment generation disbursements program implemented by the Bank during
reporting period.

XacBank

EMPLOYMENT GENERATION SUPPORT FUND (EGSF)
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RURAL AGRIBUSINESS SUPPORT PROGRAM
This program is being implemented in cooperation with Mercy Corps Mongolia, which aims to provide financial
business start-up services to herders and rural citizens, who do not have access to commercial banking services
due to lack of collateral assets. The program provides financial guarantees to those with viable business plans to
replace collateral in obtaining loans from banks. In cooperation with this program, the Bank issues micro loans
with lower interest rates to herders and microentrepreneurs in 11 provinces. 160 borrowers received loans of
MNT 418 million under this program and at year-end 2005; the Bank had MNT 223 million outstanding in 110
loans. Mercy Corps extended the cooperation agreement for continued implementation of this program until
December 31, 2007.

ONE FAMILY-ONE COMPUTER PROGRAM
The Government of Mongolia initiated this program in 2005 to provide households with opportunities to purchase
personal computers at affordable prices. Five commercial banks are participating in this financial leasing program.
8,124 computers were sold since the launch of the program, of which 3,100 purchases were financed by the
banks. During this period, XacBank provided financial leasing services to 1,528 borrowers for computer purchases
at total cost of MNT 589 million. The combined efforts of the headquarters and branch staff in organizing
trade fairs with computer suppliers in urban and rural areas facilitated this achievement. The Information
Communication Technology Agency of the Government named XacBank its “Best Financial Lease Provider” from
among the banks participating in the program.

INTERNATIONAL CONSULTANCY
In November 2005, Mr. Soronzonbold Lhagvasuren, Executive Vice President of the Bank, provided a two-week
consultancy to Moris Rasik NGO, a leading MFI in East Timor. The consultancy was to develop consumption and
business loan products under an individual lending methodology. Moris Rasik has 5 years of operational history
and had been offering loan products using Grameen Bank’s group lending methodology since its establishment.

TRADE FAIRS
To offer a wide range of products under its financial leasing service, XacBank cooperates with over 90 suppliers.
During 2005, the Bank organized over 40 trade fairs, mostly in rural areas, in cooperation with suppliers such as
Nomin Electronics, BSB Service and the Online Center to deliver financial leasing to rural households. As a result,
10,397 people received lease financing of their purchases for over MNT 4 billion.
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Ms. Oyunchimeg heard about the Golden Fund for
Development (X.A.C.) an NBFI, when she was looking for
opportunities to supplement her working capital with small
loans. In May 2001, she received a loan of MNT 200,000,
soon after she repaid the loan and obtained a second loan
to buy more sewing machines and electric dynamos for the
machines to improve her productivity. Since 2001, she has
taken 13 loans from XacBank and most recently a Growth
Loan for MNT 5 million. She has investigated other banks
with lower interest rates, but their loan officers would not
visit her home to discuss the loan because of its distant
location. Later, when her business grew and became popular
in the neighborhood, a local lending organization offered her
a loan with lower interest but she refused because she was
happy with XacBank’s service. The reliable and friendly service
compensated for the slightly higher interest rate.
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PORTFOLIO QUALITY AND CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
As of year-end 2005, the Bank’s loan repayment rate was 99.5 percent, and its Portfolio at Risk (PAR) of more
than 1 day, including restructured loans, was 0.97 percent.

PERCENTAGE OF NON-PERFORMING LOANS /PAR/

In 2005, the Bank’s loan loss ratio was at 0.04 percent, as 16 loans for MNT 10.5 million were written-off. The
total recovery of written-off loans from previous years was MNT 1.6 million. During its seven years of operation,
XacBank has written-off 121 loans amounting to MNT 218.5 million.
LOAN PORTFOLIO QUALITY INDICATORS

Loan repayment (%)
PAR>1 day (MNT thousand)
PAR>1 day (%)
Loan Loss (MNT thousand)
Loan Loss Ratio (%)
Loan Recoveries (MNT thousand)
Recovery Rate (%)
Loan Loss Reserve (%)

2005

2004

Change (%)

99.47

99.61

-0.14

370,197.7

209,772.9

160,424.8

0.97

1.03

-0.06

10,485.4

167,134.4

(156,649.0)

0.04

1.08

-1.04

1,568.5

1351.3

217.2

14.96

0.8

14.16

0.34

1.32

-0.98

In 2005, in order to better manage the Bank’s portfolio and improve credit risk management, the Bank created
a risk classification system ranking each of the Bank’s 50,000+ loans by risk category. This new system classifies
borrowers into 8 groups based on their loan risk category.
The 20 largest borrowers comprise 4.3 percent of total loans and 17.02 percent of shareholder equity. Total loans
to related parties constitute 2.1 percent of total loans and 8.38 percent of shareholder equity.
LOAN PORTFOLIO CONCENTRATION
Percentage of Loan Portfolio

Percentage of Shareholder’s Equity

20 Largest Borrowers

4.27

17.02

Single Largest Borrower

0.43

1.70

Total Loans to Related Parties

2.10

8.38

Single Loan to Related Party

0.35

1.40
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In October, the Bank held a reception to welcome its new Board members and to mark the successful conclusion
of the three year Implementation Grant Program (IGP) provided by USAID. The IGP assisted the Bank with resources
to expand its branch network, acquire an MIS system and develop new products while also providing training and
technical assistance. With the assistance of the IGP, XacBank improved the conditions of its rural branches to deliver
advanced customer service, better served those clients through use of its MIS system and created new demand
driven financial products such as leasing and franchising.
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RURAL BANKING
MOBILE BANKING SERVICE
In 2005, the UN International Year of Microcredit, in order to deliver comprehensive financial services to
marginalized citizens in remote areas, the Bank aggressively expanded its rural banking outreach by entering 72
new soums thus raising the number of soums served with mobile banking services to 165. Most of these soums
have locally elected Loan Approval Committees (LAC) to receive loan applications as well as provide references on
borrowers as part of the loan approval process. LAC members are volunteers elected at local community meetings
and totaled 495 individuals serving on 105 LACs at year-end.
At the beginning of the year 3,574 loans for MNT 1.8 billion were outstanding in soums and during the year
the number of active soum borrowers and the outstanding soum loan portfolio increased 3.9 and 4.2 times,
respectively. The Bank had 14,088 loans for MNT 7.3 billion outstanding in the soums, which is 19.3 percent of
the Bank’s total loan portfolio as of the end of 2005.

“DEVELOPMENT GUIDE” FRANCHISING SERVICE
During the course of the reporting year, 51 training events organized for rural savings and credit cooperatives
(SCC) allowed 39 additional SCCs to receive XacBank’s franchising service. This was largely a result of the
Bank’s commitment to rural citizens’ initiatives to organize themselves into cooperatives. The SCCs received
comprehensive training and relevant technical assistance to help them achieve sustainable operations in their
local markets.
51 rural SCCs joined XacBank’s “Development Guide” franchising program, with over 2,400 members and total
paid-in capital of MNT 151 million. The franchisee cooperatives had total assets of MNT 336.5 million and 1,229
outstanding loans for MNT 312.8 million, of which 99.61 percent was current. The total deposits mobilized by
the cooperatives stood at MNT 68.2 million and number of depositors reached 619.
The Bank is planning to increase the number of franchisee cooperatives in its network to 150 in 2006.
XacBank’s “Development Guide” franchising service won the Global Micro-entrepreneurship Award (GMA) from
the United Nations Development Program (UNDP) in 2005 as “Innovative Microfinance Product of the Year”
during an awards ceremony held in recognition of the UN Year of Microcredit. Moreover, CGAP awarded its ProPoor Innovation Challenge Grant to XacBank to fund further develop this project.

BANKING SERVICES
DEPOSIT MOBILIZATION
In 2005, the Bank sourced a total of MNT 27.2 billion into 65,056 savings accounts while adding MNT 3.7 billion
to 53,773 current accounts, an increase of 96.8 percent in total deposits over the previous year. On average, the
Bank opened 127 new savings accounts per day in 2005.
In 2005, the Bank started offering current and savings accounts denominated in Euros, complementing its MNT
and USD account services. In addition, it introduced a new housing savings deposit product -“Xac-Palace”- that
is tied to the Bank’s housing mortgage product.
The popular Future Millionaire children’s savings account continued its success in 2005, ending the year with 46.5
thousand accounts. This product also won the National Brand award from the Mongolian National Chamber of
Commerce and Industry. At the end of 2005, the average depositor of the Future Millionaire account was eight
years old.
Income from fee and service related commissions rose by 82.6 percent amounting to MNT 730.6 million as result
of the actions taken to reduce the dependency on interest income and enhance fee income.

DEPOSITS

Depositors

2005

2004

Change

(%) Change

65,056

39,166

25,864

66.1

27,226.6

14,331.9

12,894.7

90.0

3,671.5

1,364.5

2,307.0

169.1

418,510

365,928

52,582

14.4

53,773

39,212

14,561

37.1

68,278.6

34,798.0

33,480.6

96.2

Current Accounts
Average Deposit Balance (MNT)
Current Account Holders
Average Current Account Balance (MNT)
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Demand and Savings

XacBank

Deposits (million MNT)
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The uniforms and traditional Mongolian costumes made by Ms. Oyunchimeg are well known not only at Narantuul
market, the largest outdoor market in Mongolia, but also among her neighbors. Today her family rents 5 stalls at the
market to sell their products, as well as imported shirts and ties. Prior to the start of the new school year and the Lunar
New Year in mid-winter, demand for their products increases dramatically so she hires assistant tailors to meet the
demand. During this high demand season, daily sales can reach MNT 1 million. As her products developed a reputation
for their quality and affordable prices, more sales channels opened as schools started placing bulk orders and neighbors
bought directly from her home, where her family still runs the business. Recently she received an order for performance
costumes from the state circus prior to their departure to Turkey.

CURRENT ACCOUNTS
Current account balances rose by 169.1 percent in 2005 amounting to MNT 3.7 billion, divided between corporate
current accounts (+178.2 percent) and individuals (+143.0 percent).

STRUCTURE OF TOTAL DEPOSIT ACCOUNT HOLDERS

STRUCTURE OF TOTAL DEPOSITS
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Total demand and savings account balances rose by 90.0 percent in 2005 to MNT 27.2 billion, of which 76.7
percent represent time deposits. Time deposits stayed at virtually the same level of 76.3 percent in the previous
year.

XacBank

DEMAND AND SAVINGS ACCOUNTS
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DOMESTIC MONEY REMITTANCE
The Bank executed 95,856 domestic money remittance transactions totaling MNT 10.0 billion in 2005. The Bank
opened “Xac Buuhia”, a money remittance center serving exclusively remittance clients. 10,884 remittances
totaling MNT 1.0 billion were transacted through the “Xac Buuhia” center since its opening in October.
MONEY REMITTANCE GROWTH
Domestic Money Remittance
Number of Remittances
Volume of Remittances (MNT billion)
Average Transaction (MNT)

NUMBER OF DOMESTIC REMITTANCES

AMOUNT OF DOMESTIC REMITTANCES

2005

2004

(%) Growth

95,856

66,794

43.5

10.0

8.6

15.9

104,003

129,274

-19.5

INTERNATIONAL SETTLEMENTS SERVICE
In early 2004, the Bank started offering international funds transfer service in Euros in cooperation with
Bayerische Hypo-Und Vereinsbank AG of Germany. In 2005, the Bank established correspondent relationships
with HSBC (USA) and Union Bank of California (USA) to provide foreign transactions in US dollars. This network
of correspondent relationships has continued to grow and the Bank opened accounts with SberBank (Russia),
Kookmin Bank (South Korea) and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation (Japan) to provide customers with global
funds transfer and payment services.

NEW PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
In June 2005, XacBank became a member of MasterCard International and started issuing its Xac MasterCard. A
range of cards is available to suit every customer, including credit, debit, local and foreign currency and corporate
or gold editions. By year-end, the number of cardholders exceeded 9,000. The Bank is projecting to have 32,000
cards outstanding by the end of 2006 with debit balances totaling MNT 940 million.
Another service introduced in 2005 was the Instant Money Transfer Model (IMTM). This unique service allows
clients to access their accounts from any XacBank branch for withdrawals, transfers and other banking services,
notwithstanding the fact that most branches still operate in off-line mode.

CUSTOMER SERVICE
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To improve staff communication skills and maintain high quality customer service, the Bank developed the
“Guidebook for Implementing Customer Service Standards”. The Bank also established a Customer Service
working group consisting of various staff members under the coordination of the Strategic Planning and
Marketing Division. In cooperation with a mix of staff from urban and rural branches, the working group set
out to determine ways to raise the Bank’s level of customer service to “excellent” and produce solutions to
customer service problems. This included installing a suggestion box in each XacBank branch to receive customer
comments and feedback as well as to diversify communication channels. For example, customers indicated that
they wanted more convenient service hours. In response, the Bank extended business hours from 9 am to 7 pm
in certain branches as well as opened for business on weekends. To ensure appropriate balance between the
demand and operating efficiency the Bank constantly evaluates and revises such initiatives as necessary.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
In 2005, XacBank not only surpassed the Bank of Mongolia’s minimum paid-in capital requirement of MNT 8
billion, but also exceeded most of its financial performance targets. In addition, the Bank made considerable
advances in many other areas including establishment of financial and risk management systems, improvement of
foreign exchange risk management and greater utilization of the inter-bank market for liquidity management.
XacBank ended the year with a net profit after tax of MNT 1.488.9 million, an 89 percent increase from the
previous year. This resulted in a return on average assets of 3.30 percent and a return on average equity of
23.62 percent. Although these results are mixed compared to 2004, they are quite satisfactory given the more
competitive market in Mongolia in 2005 along with rising USD interest rates, strong growth in average assets and
in average equity during the year from the Bank’s MNT 3.8 billion capital increase.
The following table provides a 3-year historical trend of selected performance indicators. Numbers are in
percentages unless otherwise specified in the text.

SELECTED PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2003

2004

2005

PROFITABILITY
Return on Average Assets

Change
(04-03)/03

(05-04)/04

1.90

3.42

3.30

80.20

-3.51

Return on Average Equity

9.15

18.60

23.62

103.29

27.00

Net Profit Margin

6.76

12.18

13.65

80.36

12.06

787,494.0 1,488,928.5

184.42%

89.07

Net Income After Taxes (MNT)

276,878.7

BALANCE SHEET
Earning Assets to Total Assets

79.21

80.35

74.46

1.44

-7.33

Deposit to Loan Ratio

90.92

77.27

81.14

-15.01

5.01

Commercial and Project Funds to Total Liabilities

25.43

38.66

35.18

52.03

-8.99

Operating Expenses to Total Expenses

59.93

52.88

48.08

-11.77

-9.07

Risk Weighted Assets to Capital

24.71

18.73

21.12

-24.20

12.76

Liquidity Ratio

33.50

28.45

26.60

-15.07

-6.50

20 Largest Borrowers to Shareholders Equity

38.99

31.09

17.02

-20.26

-45.27

7.94

12.13

8.38

52.77

-30.92

PRUDENTIAL RATIOS

Related Party Loans to Shareholders Equity

ASSET AND LIABILITY MANAGEMENT
In 2005, the Bank improved further its balance sheet structure and quality of assets as well as its funding mix and
management of its financial risks and costs.
Besides continuously revising its foreign exchange and liquidity risk limits and cash limits, the Bank installed its
new “Risk-Manager” software used in risk assessment and individual investment decision making. The software
was not fully customized and operational at year-end, but given the Bank’s dedication and commitment to
improved risk management, the management is confident that it will not take long to introduce full utilization of
the software in market risk management. The Bank also carried out a review of its risk management practices and
policies during the year with the assistance from local and international consultants.
To enhance financial controls, treasury operations and market risk management, the Bank reorganized its Finance
and Accounting Division into four departments: Accounting and Reporting, Planning and Budgeting and Treasury.
Fast growth in operations, competition and changes in the external environment require the Bank to develop
more specialized and focused risk management, controlling, planning and reporting functions. The Bank believes
that reorganization of the Division has properly addressed these demands for change.
During the year, fixed asset weight in the composition of total assets increased from 8 percent to 14.6 percent
largely due to the acquisition of the headquarters building in the 1st Quarter. However, by year-end, this ratio
came down back 10 percent due to continued growth of the loan portfolio. Meanwhile, the percentage of cash,
liquid assets, short-term investments and loans remained in line with the projected levels for the year.
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ASSET COMPOSITION
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The Bank maintained its well-diversified funding mix of commercial and project funds together with consumer
and corporate deposits. During 2005, the Bank raised local currency funding from OikoCredit and Triodos-Doen,
both from the Netherlands as well as USD funding from ShoreCap International while Calvert Foundation (USA)
provided additional debt together with a commitment for further funding in 2006. At the end of 2005, the Bank
entered into negotiations with Blue Orchard (Switzerland) and Morgan Stanley (US) to participate along with
22 world’s top microfinance institutions in the Collateralized Debt Obligation, which will provide unsecured,
medium-term fixed rate funding when it closes in the first half of 2006.
An important development on the funding side in 2005 was additional local currency funding from foreign
lending sources. Certain foreign lenders also reduced their interest rates on renewals of loans while applying more
flexible terms, as the Bank’s financial condition continued to strengthen.
Project funds are not only important to the fulfillment of the Bank’s development objectives but also a lower
cost source of funding for operations. As result of successful implementation of projects, the Bank has obtained
additional funding from the MDF, the Employment Generation Fund, and IFAD and ADB for continued
implementation of their projects. In total, these projects provided MNT 3,036.3 million in additional funding
during the reporting year.
As a result, the commercial and project funds balance rose by 69 percent from 2004 reaching MNT 17.5 billion by
year-end 2005. Although commercial and project funds decreased as a percentage of total funding in 2005 due
to faster growth in public deposits and new equity, the Bank maintained a well diversified funding structure.

FUNDING COMPOSITION

STRENGTHENING EQUITY
On September 30, the Bank’s holding company, XAC-GE closed on USD 2 million of new equity financing from
two strategic investors, ShoreCap International (USA) and Triodos Doen/Triodos Fair Share Fund (Netherlands). In
addition, Tuushin LLC, an existing local shareholder, purchased MNT 751.5 million of additional equity, bringing
its holding in XAC-GE to 14.36 percent. As result of these investments, XacBank met the minimum paid-in capital
requirement of MNT 8.0 billion set by the Bank of Mongolia well in advance of the April 2006 deadline. In the
4th Quarter, Newcom LLC (Mongolia) came on board as a shareholder through acquisition of shares of one of
the founding NGOs of XAC-GE and XacBank.
To allow the employees to take a greater role in setting forward going direction for the organization, the employee
stock ownership plan (ESOP) was restructured during the year, with employees swapping their shares in the Bank
for shares in XAC-GE LLC, the holding company, thus giving XAC-GE a 99.78 percent ownership stake in the
Bank. These shares were subsequently swapped for shares in the Employee Investment Trust (EIT) LLC, a vehicle,
which consolidates employee shareholdings into a single entity.
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PROFITABILITY
According to the Bank of Mongolia, XacBank produced the highest return on average assets (ROAA) ratio among
all banks in Mongolia in 2005, in spite of the decline from its 2004 levels. Although the average equity increased
by 47.3 percent during the year the return on average equity (ROAE) increased from 18.6 percent in 2004 to
23.62 percent in 2005.

CHANGES IN ROE AND ROA

The year 2005 was particularly challenging as the extended period of low US dollar interest rates began to end,
raising borrowing costs, while lending rates in the local marketplace began a decline due to competition factors.
These market developments together with increased investment in rural expansion and increases in utility and fuel
costs required the Bank to maintain tight cost controls and work to improve efficiency and productivity.
Mongolia’s banking sector development further intensified competition resulting in downward pressure on
lending rates. This development factor entailed a decline in the Bank’s portfolio yield from 37.01 percent in 2004
to 32.75 percent in 2005. The Bank compensated for lower yields with more aggressive lending policy and greater
focus on portfolio quality. As a result, the Bank exceeded its 2005 target for interest income by 4 percent.
On the funding side, borrowing costs exceeded budget largely due to the need to mobilize more funds than
projected as well as the rising interest rate environment. During 2005, the LIBOR rate rose by approximately 200
basis points, while MNT deposit interest rates also showed some upward trend. However, the average cost of
commercial and project funds rose slower, to 10.41 percent compared to 9.09 percent in 2004.
The Bank became an active participant in the evolving inter-bank market in Mongolia in 2005, utilizing this market
for meeting short-term liquidity needs as well as allocating short-term excess liquidity. Compared to previous

years, intensification of activities in the inter-bank market enabled the Bank not only to finance some of its
lending activities in local currency without limiting its growth, but also at a relatively lower cost.
Additionally, income from short-term inter-bank investments was MNT 420.8 million, which exceeded projections,
due to active participation in the Bank of Mongolia’s securities trading in spite of a sharp decline in the yield on
these instruments.
Due to the efforts of the management team and the entire staff, the Bank achieved record earnings again in
2005, generating net income of MNT 1.488.9 million. With a healthy return and a solid capital base, XacBank is
well positioned for the challenges and opportunities in the years ahead.
CHANGES IN NET PROFITS

In conclusion, the management is pleased to highlight further improvements in the Bank’s revenue structure
through an increase in the weight of investment and fee income contributing to a diversified revenue base. The
weight of interest income decreased from 89 percent in 2004 to 86 percent in 2005 whereas fees and investment
income increased by 1 percent each.
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HUMAN RESOURCES
XacBank employed 617 staff at year-end, of which 121 individuals were employed at the headquarters, and 496
employed by its branches. In addition, it employed 83 security officers of XacSecurity LLC, the former security
services department of the Bank, spun-off to XAC-GE in October 2005.

SELECTION
The Bank’s hiring policy is guided by the principle of ensuring equal opportunity and respect for all. In selecting
new staff, the Bank looks for the best people who would meet its competency requirements, share the Bank’s
organizational values and will fit into the Bank’s culture. The Bank’s overall human resource policy is characterised
by merit based selection and promotion, equal opportunity, openness and transparency.
The Bank has a good tradition of cooperating with the leading business schools and universities in Mongolia to
attract the best talent. XacBank makes regular presentations at these schools, challenging students through Bank
sponsored contests such as “Who knows microfinance and its best practices in Mongolia and internationally?”
as well as funding scholarships and internship programs at the Bank. The Bank also publishes vacancies in local
employment portals and mass media, ensuring open and transparent selection processes.

REMUNERATION AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
Rolling out implementation of the new performance based remuneration system for branch employees from a
pilot project to a system-wide process made 2005 a very intensive year for the Bank and its HRD Department. The
new system is designed to sustain the integral balance between the quantity and the quality of work performed
by each staff, and it links corporate objectives with key performance indicators determined for each position
in the branch network. Introduction of the system already produced positive results in terms of standardizing
overall measurement and key performance parameters for each position; and increased productivity of staff - for
example, the number of active borrowers per credit officer increased from 239 to 2866 in 2005.
Based on the performance appraisal, staff in the branches is eligible for monthly bonuses. As for the headquarters,
professional and support staff eligible to receive performance based bonuses are paid on a quarterly, while
division directors’ performance is assessed semi-annually. The Bank plans further improvements to the system
in 2006 to align the new performance evaluation system to reflect better the quality of customer service in staff
performance.
The Bank plans further improvements to the system in 2006 to align the new performance evaluation system to
reflect better the quality of customer service in staff performance.

6

International microfinance industry benchmark for institutions with individual lending methodology is 250 borrowers per credit officer.

TRAINING
The importance that the Bank attaches to training is evident throughout the organization from its efforts to
establish an independent training facility and the fact that 813 employees participated in more than 17 thousand
person hours of in-house, in country and international training in 2005. Training costs represent 2.6 percent of
the Bank’s operating expenses. The Bank staff also receives training and coaching in specific areas of professional
skill provided under separate technical assistance arrangements.
Training activities are designed to cover specific needs of the Bank’s business areas as well as respond to individual
staff needs defined by the competency assessment process. The Bank introduced a new distance-training program,
which will have a considerable impact in 2006, as the Bank targets to increase its use to 10 percent of all training
activities. The Bank also developed its internal certificate training for credit officers and introduced a certification
process to be fully implemented throughout the system in 2006.
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All the members of Ms. Oyunchimeg’s family are able to use sewing machines in addition to the other stages of
production, such as cutting and ironing. For high demand summer season, she hires students and teaches them
to sew. In total, she has provided temporary employment to over 15 young people and taught them to sew.
Ms. Oyunchimeg wants to make sure her products are made of high quality materials and well stitched. With
loans from XacBank, she built a small extension to her house as a work place and bought a car to transport her
product. She is thinking about further expanding her business into a service center, where she can conduct both
production and sales.
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HUMAN CAPITAL IN NUMBERS
To manage gender mix as a competitive advantage, ensure equal opportunity and respect for all individuals
Number of employees

617

• Rural

350

• Ulaanbaatar

267

Average age of staff
• Branch
• Head Office
Male/Female Ratios

28
27
30
40/60

• Branches

37/63

• Head Office

55/45

• Middle management (Branch managers, Department heads)

52/48

• Senior management (Executives, Division heads)

78/22

Average years of experience of staff

2.7

• Branches

1.9

• Head Office

3.1

To promote professional and personal development, by reconciling the Bank’s and the individual’s interests
New recruits

183

Expenditure on scholarships to students (MNT thousand)

1,500

Total investment in training (MNT thousand)

121,863

Hours of training given

15,159

Hours of international training

1,960

Hours of international technical assistance

480

Employees participated in training

132%

Evaluation of employee satisfaction with training (1-5, with 5 as highest)

4.5

Staff with variable remuneration

80%

Branch staff promoted

163

Franchising trainings
Number of LAC members
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This business made it possible for Ms. Oyunchimeg to see two of her five children graduate with a university degree.
She is happy with the quality of their education, as she made sure that the universities they attended were among
the best, which is also more expensive. Besides education degrees attained, all her children are now skilled tailors
and contribute their ideas to the design of new clothes and uniforms. They have even won competitions for uniform
design. Price, design and quality are the main areas they focus upon, especially the quality of materials and stitching for
children’s uniforms. Ms. Oyunchimeg believes her products have many competitive advantages beyond price, including
much higher quality than uniforms produced by big factories.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
XacBank continued to expand and upgrade its IT systems to meet the needs of customer demand as well as the
Bank’s own growth. A Chief Information Officer position was created to manage this growth and coordinate all
IT related activities of the Bank.
The Bank aggressively expanded its service outreach in 2005, especially to remote rural areas, and ended the
year with 16 additional extension units in its branch network. The IT team provided support, which included
computer and network installation at all new units as well as establishment of online connections to new branch
extension units through leased lines and wireless systems. This branch-to-extension communications solution was
an essential element in ensuring improved internal information flow and operational efficiency in a cost effective
manner.
Instant Money Transfer Module (IMTM) was launched and installed at all branches of the Bank by August, allowing
customers access to their accounts from any branch in the XacBank network. This service became very popular
among the Bank’s clients increasing the Bank’s competitiveness. Furthermore, the Bank brought eleven branches
in the capital city online, giving clients instant access to their funds with real time information on balances.
System administrators developed a solution for internal WAN (Wide Area Network) architecture and an enhanced
network security system for the Bank’s online network. The GPRS (General Packet Radio Service) system introduced
in Mongolia during the year, allowed the Bank to overcome poor infrastructure, especially in the rural areas,
through a wireless connection system. GPRS modems installed at some branches also provided more reliable
connectivity for data transmission purposes.
A Microsoft Exchange server was installed to improve internal communication flows and enhance collaboration
between supervisors and employees through introduction of address book, task and time management
software.
In June, the Bank started issuing MasterCard for which the IT department developed all required interface and
registration modules for card service processing as well as effective front and back office systems. Ongoing
periodic upgrades were carried out for the Bank’s SWIFT system, as 2005 was the first full year since the Bank
became a member of this network for its international transaction purposes.
In September, KPMG performed an audit of the Bank’s information technology systems and IT procedures.
This was the first IT audit for the Bank as well as the first of this kind in Mongolia. This audit provided many
recommendations for improvement of IT capacity and services as well as guidance for future focus and resource
needs.
In the second half of the year, a reorganization of the IT department carried out to segregate certain tasks and
responsibilities. As a result, the department expanded its capacity and transformed into a full division with new
Research, Development and Support units.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Internal Audit Division expanded its capacity during 2005 to accommodate the Bank’s rapid growth and
added expertise to ensure qualified audit capabilities. The Audit team ended 2005 with 9 full time staff including
a newly created position of an IT Auditor.
The Internal Audit Division conducted 87 assessments during the year, of which 9 were carried out at the request
of branch managers for advisory purposes. The Bank has also established an audit grading system, which scores
the operational quality of audited branches on a 0 to 100 scale scoring system. The average score of the branches
assessed during 2005 was 68.5.
The Internal Audit Division has devised a methodology of Regular and Unscheduled assessments for conducting
audits, all of which are unannounced to the manager of a branch or a department being reviewed. In addition,
the Division has published an audit guidebook, and upgraded the design of its audit reports to provide more
detailed management information as well as to give necessary advice and information to branch managers and
staff. In addition to these changes, a new system was developed to assess the accounting and loan administration
processes. The IT Auditor developed the “XacAudit.exe”, an in-house software product that uses branch database
to conduct off-site assessments.
To reduce minor and more commonly occurring violations of Bank policies, Internal Controls Units were created at
all Bank branches, which report to the Internal Audit Division on a quarterly basis. In addition, the Internal Audit
team developed new channels for client complaints and comments. This includes comment boxes and an e-mail
address audit@xacbank.mn, which clients may use to contact the Bank’s auditors directly and confidentially. This
email account is checked on a daily basis by internal auditors and is accessible for all Bank branches. Based on
information coming through these channels, the Internal Audit Division provides closer oversight of the Bank’s
activities, both internally and externally.
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The Bank sponsored a
Mongolian Basketball
Association league team
-“Xac Hulguud”- for
the second consecutive
year. Mr. Pak Sun Gen
from Korea, who also
coaches the Mongolian
National
Basketball
Team, coaches “Xac
Hulguud” team.

XacBank

To further develop the skills of the Internal Audit team, an advisor from Pacifica Bank, USA, conducted a series
of training sessions on best practice in the field of microfinance audit. The Internal Audit Division will receive
additional training in 2006 from other Technical Assistance sources to ensure that the IAD has the skills and
knowledge to effectively monitor the Bank’s activities in the future.
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INVESTMENTS
BRANCHES AND EXTENSION UNITS
In the circumstances of rising competition among commercial banks in Mongolia - 2005 was the year of expansion
for XacBank – it opened 16 extension units in the ger areas of Ulaanbaatar and 1 branch at the port of ZamynUud on the border with China. As a result, the branch network increased to 55 units, totaling 38 full service
branches, 16 extension units and 1 card-processing center. The extension units in the ger districts are conveniently
located to allow easy access to banking services for marginalized migrant citizens settled in the rapidly expanding
informal suburbs of the capital city. The extension units are different from full service branches in terms of their
size, number of staff and the range of services provided.
In addition to branch expansion, the Bank introduced extended working hours, including Saturday business hours
at all branches.
The Bank serves the remote rural communities with Mobile Banking services made available to residents of 165
soums or more than 50 percent of all soums nationwide. The Bank also achieves rural access through franchising
rural savings and credit cooperatives to provide services following the direction and guidance provided in the
Bank’s Development Guide. At the end of 2005, the Bank had franchisee agreements with 51 cooperatives for a
range of financial services.
Additional transportation vehicles provided to eligible branch offices improved staff productivity, assisted the
branches in meeting their goals for loan portfolio and number of clients in soums accessed with Mobile Banking
services as well as gave opportunity to further extend their outreach.
On the technology front, the Bank entered into agreements with telecommuncations companies SkyNetworks
and Mobicom to install fiber optic cabling for branch connectivity. With the installation of fiber optic cables, online
connections were established with the branches bringing the customer service of the Bank to a new efficiency
level and improving the clients’ access to accounts as well as enhancing the Bank’s internal control functions.
In September XacSecurity LLC was spun off as a wholly-owned subsidiary of XAC-GE and the security staff of
the Bank was transferred to this company. This was done under legal pressure as the Bank is not authorized to
perform security activities. The spin-off of XacSecurity was a timely measure, which ensured full legal compliance
and safety of the Bank’s operations.
Assets, such as cameras and alarm systems at the branches were also transferred to this new company increasing
the investment in XacSecurity to MNT 81 million. XacSecurity will continue to provide security services exclusively
to XacBank and its branches.
Total MNT 30 million was spent during the year on the installation of cameras and alarm systems at the branches
to safeguard assets of the Bank. The inspection report of the Bank of Mongolia touched on the issue of security
at the branches and further action is being taken to address these issues.

ASSET ACQUISITIONS AND RENOVATIONS
In the 1st Quarter of 2005, the Bank purchased its headquarters building and the adjacent land for approximately
USD 2.0 million. The decision to acquire the building was based upon the increasing cost of office rental, the
value of the building and surrounding land and a long-term goal to provide a comfortable and efficient work
environment for the staff. At the end of 2005, the Bank had 121 employees and in the coming year the Bank will
require at least 160 to meet the staffing needs for implementation of its planned activities.
The Bank also acquired buildings for branch premises in Umnugovi, Huvsgul and Nalayh at a cost of approximately
MNT 113 million. Management believes that comfortable and warm conditions in a branch will positively affect
not only the employees, but also will attract additional clientele. Due to delays in construction and poor quality,
workmanship the Bank was forced to halt temporarily two major branch construction projects initiated in Hovd
and Darhan-Uul aimags. In September 2005, the construction in Hovd was completed and the branch opened for
business. This modern and spacious building is an MNT 180 million addition to the real estate ownership of the
Bank. It is expected that the construction in Darhan will be completed in July 2006.
The property development department of the Bank, which designs and outfits new branches, has developed a
standard branch design to reflect XacBank’s brand. The first renovations to accommodate this standard were
carried out at the Nalayh and Umnugovi branches. The Bank will apply this standard design in conducting further
renovation work at other branch offices.
Other minor renovations of extension units located in ger areas, major market place and other strategic locations
were carried out to meet the standards set by the Bank as well as creating appealing interior for clients and a
healthy work environment for staff.

PROCUREMENT
Total procurement in the year was MNT 595 million, which covered computer equipment and a range of fixed
assets. These expenditures mostly relate to branch expansion as well as scheduled maintenance and upgrade of
equipment and fixed assets of the Bank.
For larger procurement and major construction and renovation services, the Bank selects suppliers and contractors
through a competitive bidding process announced through mass media channels.
Significant assets of the Bank such as real estate, vehicles and server computers are covered by a local insurance
policy, and MNT 22 million was paid for insurance coverage during the year.
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In accordance with the decision to introduce uniforms for the front office, staff the Bank authorized procurement
of 500 uniforms for USD 38.600.
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MARKETING AND PUBLIC RELATIONS
ADVERTISING
The Bank’s marketing function advanced to a more mature level in 2005. A major enhancement to the marketing
effort was achieved through the development of an in-house research function. Concise information on macro
economic and banking sector developments provided by this facility had an enormous impact on marketing
decision making. It has also become a source of competitive analysis of products in the market and allowed the
Bank to take better-informed and more targeted approach in its marketing strategy. With the enhanced capability
of this research function, the Bank has been able to analyze customer behavior of clients visiting the Bank as well
as gauge their satisfaction with the services offered.
In addition to internal resources, the Research and Promotion Department hired a Public Relations Officer during
the year. The PR department also organized a series of client meetings in ger areas, promoted new branch

and extension unit openings,
which had an immediate impact
on some units’ enhanced
profitability.
Three years after its introduction
- the Future Millionaire the Bank’s
children’s savings product won
the National Brand award from
the Mongolian National Chamber
of Commerce and Industry. The
successes of this product and
its recognition in the minds of
parents who are keen on saving
for their children’s future are
evident from the impressive
number of depositors and the
continuing growth enjoyed by
this product...
“Graceful Aging” is another unique savings product developed for those keen to save for their retirement. In
2005, the Bank continued positioning Graceful Aging in the market under the motto “To harvest well in autumn,
work hard in spring” carrying various messages uniquely designed for each market segment targeted. A series of
television advertisements of this product were broadcast in December 2005 supported by ads in printed media.
In June 2005, the Bank started issuing MasterCards through its nationwide branch network. XacBank cards were
differentiated by their attractive design and unique features such as translucent cards, printed with the use of
state of the art technology. The Bank coordinated the card release with the marketing campaign, demonstrating
the advantages of the card by issuing XacMastercards to eligible holders of Future Millionaire savings, tying it
to promotion of other branded products. Another promotion of a product named “Xac-Boy’s Token” will be
launched in early 2006 demostrating the advantages of regular instalments into this long-term savings product.
The Bank’s new savings product, Xac-Palace, targeting those saving for a new home, was also introduced in
2005. Print ads for this product used a comic strip style and were very successful in attracting depositors who
could become a potential borrower of the Bank and qualify for a home mortgage loan.
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In the 4th Quarter of 2005, after successful piloting the service for a year, the Bank began a full-fledged
marketing campaign for its Development Guide rural franchising service. TV programs were produced first to
introduce the service, followed by a campaign promoting the social benefits of the franchising service in the rural
communities. The Development Guide received the “Most Innovative Microfinance Product” award from the
Global Microentrepreneurship Awards (GMA) sponsored by UNDP for the Year of Microcredit.
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PUBLIC RELATIONS
In the UN Year of Microcredit, the Bank organized various public events locally and throughout Mongolia. An
ongoing expansion of the branch network into the urban and rural ger areas has enabled marginalized citizens to
gain access to the Bank’s microcredit services. This expansion has received significant media coverage, including
a number of television programs with nationwide coverage, highlighting the success of XacBank’s microfinance
services and its contribution to alleviating poverty in the country.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
XacBank already had a history and tradition of contributing to the local community, but in early 2005 the Bank
became an international donor as well. Five hundred employees of XacBank decided to help the victims of the
Asian Tsunami tragedy by donating one day’s salary to create a relief fund. The Bank contributed an additional
amount and a total of MNT 15 million was donated to three international donors working in Tsunami relief.
XacBank’s contribution was the largest single contribution by a Mongolian entity in 2005.
One of largest retail trade markets in Mongolia, where hundreds of micro and small entrepreneurs rent space to
conduct their trading business, was destroyed by fire just before the Lunar New Year in January. Several XacBank
borrowers were among the victims who lost most of their inventory and equipment. To ease the impact of the
loss and support these valued clients, the Bank relaxed the terms on loans to these clients, while helping them get
back on their feet by also opening a Graceful Aging savings accounts for each client with MNT 100,000 opening
balance contributed by the Bank.
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The Bank head office is located adjacent to the Suhbaatar Square, in the heart of Ulaanbaatar. In the summer,
many XacBank employees dedicated personal holiday time to beautify the neighborhood by planting trees and
shrubs, painting fences around the city in cooperation with the city municipality. The Bank also mobilized partners
from the international community of Ulaanbaatar for planted more trees by each organization. During this event,
the Bank signed a Co-operation Agreement with the Suhbaatar District Governor to further improve the street
and develop this area around the central square as one of public attractions of the city. Under this Agreement,
the Bank also organized a major public event on June 1, the Children’s Day in Mongolia. The event was dedicated
to children of the city while the Bank’s clients used the event to sell their handicrafts products, and child savings
depositors were invited to enjoy various attractions and activities organized by the Bank staff and children’s
NGOs.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The Bank’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements.
The financial statements of XacBank LLC have been prepared to comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards. The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that these financial statements present fairly the
state of affairs of the Bank as at 31 December 2005 and the results and cash flows for the year then ended on
that date.
The Board of Directors have responsibility for ensuring that the Bank keeps proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Bank and which enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the requirements set out in note 2(a) thereto.
The Board of Directors also have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the Bank and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
The Board of Directors consider that, in preparing the financial statements on pages 5 to 43, they have used
appropriate policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgement and estimates,
and that all applicable accounting standards have been followed.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Chuluun Ganbold
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia
17 March 2006

KPMG (Firm No. AF 0758)
Chartered Accountants
Wisma KPMG
Jalan Dungun, Damansara Heights
50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Telephone
Fax
Internet

-60 (3) 2095 3388
-60 (3) 2095 0971
www.kpmg.com.my

REPORT OF THE AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF XACBANK LLC
We have audited the financial statements of XacBank LLC on pages 5 to 43. The preparation of the financial
statements is the responsibility of the Bank’s Board of Directors.
It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on the financial statements and to
report our opinion to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards any
other person for the content of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. These standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain all the information and explanations which we consider necessary to provide
us with evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes an assessment of the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by the Directors as well as evaluating the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements. We believe our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 5 to 43 present fairly, in all material aspects, the state of affairs
of XacBank LLC as at 31 December 2005 and the results and cash flows for the year then ended on that date in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

KPMG
Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia

KPMG, a partnership established under the Malaysian law,
is the Malaysian member firm of KPMG International,
a Swiss cooperative.
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XACBANK LLC
BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

Note

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

ASSETS
Cash on hand

3

2,100,229

1,052,516

Balances with other banks

3

6,852,474

4,204,447

Balances with the Bank of Mongolia

3

3,255,842

1,392,439

Investment securities – available for sale

4

1,105,161

965,169

Loans and advances

5

37,950,282

20,044,996

Property, plant and equipment

6

5,919,929

2,437,507

Intangible assets

7

112,756

-

Other assets

8

1,955,626

1,501,697

59,252,299

31,598,771

9

30,898,159

15,696,429

Deposits from local financial institutions

10

2,800,000

981,350

Loans from local financial institutions

11

1,300,000

2,600,000

Loans from foreign financial institutions

12

10,068,107

5,108,025

Loans from government agencies

13

3,320,135

1,648,899

205,646

30,903

126,864

131,910

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities
Deposits from customers

Taxation
Deferred grants

14

Other liabilities

15

Total liabilities

987,787

541,403

49,706,698

26,738,919

8,034,200

4,205,530

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

16

Other reserves

22,415

22,415

Retained earnings

1,488,986

631,907

Total shareholders’ equity

9,545,601

4,859,852

59,252,299

31,598,771

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Chuluun Ganhuyag
(Chief Executive Officer)

Dugersuren Bat-Ochir
(Chief Financial Officer)

The notes set out on pages 50 to 87 form an integral part of these financial statements

XACBANK LLC
STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

Note

2005
MNT’000

MNT’000

Interest income

17

9,834,002

5,936,418

Interest expense

18

(4,234,701)

(1,974,577)

5,599,301

3,961,841

657,551

384,895

107,576

15,216

80,716

108,658

845,843

508,769

Net interest income
Net fees and commissions income

19

Net foreign exchange gains
Other operating income

20

Net non-interest income
Operating income

2004

6,445,144

4,470,610

General and administration expenses

21

(4,437,939)

(2,985,140)

Write back/(Allowance) for impairment losses

22

135,461

(274,891)

227,558

132,269

Grant income
Grant expenses

14

Profit from operations
Corporate income tax
Net profit after tax

(132,269)
1,210,579

(653,738)

(423,085)

1,488,928

787,494

Dugersuren Bat-Ochir
(Chief Financial Officer)
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Chuluun Ganhuyag
(Chief Executive Officer)

24

(227,558)
2,142,666

The notes set out on pages 50 to 87 form an integral part of these financial statements
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XACBANK LLC
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

Note

Balance at 1 January 2004

Share

Share

General

Retained

Total

capital

premium

reserves

earnings

MNT’000

MNT’000

MNT’000

MNT’000

MNT’000

3,004,000

-

9,436

106,413

3,119,849

Issue of share capital

16

940,000

8,551

-

-

948,551

Capitalisation of retained profits

16

261,530

-

-

(261,530)

-

Dividend paid

23

-

-

(470)

(470)

Increase during the year

-

-

4,428

-

4,428

Net profit for the year

-

-

-

787,494

787,494

4,205,530

8,551

13,864

631,907

4,859,852
3,324,750

Balance at 31 December 2004
Issue of share capital

16

3,324,750

-

-

-

Capitalisation of retained profits

16

503,920

-

-

(503,920)

-

Dividend paid

23

-

-

-

(127,929)

(127,929)

-

-

-

1,488,928

1,488,928

8,034,200

8,551

13,864

1,488,986

9,545,601

Net profit for the year
Balance at 31 December 2005

The notes set out on pages 50 to 87 form an integral part of these financial statements

XACBANK LLC
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

2,142,666

1,210,579

412,368

220,958

6,255

(4,364)

Note

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities
Increase in loans and advances
Increase in other assets
Increase in deposits from customers
Increase in deposits from local financial institutions

2,561,289

1,427,173

(17,905,286)

(9,204,550)

(453,929)

(772,999)

15,201,730

5,684,257

1,818,650

981,350

446,384

(262,459)

1,668,838

(2,147,228)

Corporate income tax paid

(478,995)

(437,891)

Net cash flows used in operating activities

1,189,843

(2,585,119)

(139,992)

981,623

(4,019,047)

(1,311,278)

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (acquisition) /disposal of investment securities available for sale
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

(115,183)

-

120,429

41,962

(4,153,793)

(287,693)

3,324,750

948,551

-

4,428

(1,300,000)

920,000

Increase in loans from foreign financial institutions

4,960,082

3,910,825

Increase in loans from government agencies

1,671,236

792,654

(5,046)

43,545

(127,929)

(470)

Net cash flows generated from financing activities

8,523,093

6,619,533

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

5,559,143

3,746,721

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

6,649,402

2,902,681

12,208,545

6,649,402

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment
Net cash flows used in investing activities

Proceeds from the issue of shares
Increase in general reserves
(Decrease)/Increase in loans from local financial institutions

(Decrease)/Increase in deferred grants
Dividends paid

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

i

3

57

Note: i) During the year, the bank distributed a final cash dividend of MNT127,929,575 in respect of year ended
31 December 2004.

XacBank

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The notes set out on pages 50 to 87 form an integral part of these financial statements
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XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial
statements.

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
X.A.C. Co., Ltd. commenced operations in 1999 as a non-bank financial institution. The company first started
its operation by rendering five types of loan services. In October 2001, this company entered into a merger
agreement with Goviin Ekhlel Co., Ltd., another non-bank financial institution, to form XAC-GE Group, a holding
company, which owns a majority stake in XacBank LLC. The shareholders of the holding company are:
•

Mercy Corps

•

Open Society Forum

•

Mongolian Women’s Federation

•

Liberal Women’s Intellectual Pool

•

Triodos Doen and Triodos Fair Share Fund

•

Rotary Club of Ulaanbaatar

•

Local Governance Development Foundation

•

Tuushin LLC

•

MicroVest 1, LP

•

Shorecap International LTD

•

CYDAN

•

Newcom

•

EIT LLC

The principal activities of XacBank LLC (“the Bank”), which is incorporated as a commercial bank under the
Mongolian Banking Law, are to provide a wide range of banking products and services, including deposit taking,
lending, international and domestic payment services, foreign exchange dealing, securities trading, financial and
investment consulting, under Banking Licence No. 24 issued by the Bank of Mongolia on 27 December 2001
(referred to as “the Banking Licence”).
The Bank has been and continues to be predominantly involved in providing micro finance to the general public
to develop retail and small and medium enterprises.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 March 2006.

XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted by the Bank in the preparation of these financial
statements.
(a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) and its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
(b) Basis of financial statement preparation
The financial statements are presented in Mongolian Togrog (“MNT”), rounded to the nearest thousand. MNT is
the Bank’s measurement currency. The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
investments available-for-sale which are stated at fair value.
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied by the Bank and are consistent with those
used in the previous year.
(c) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, which are stated at historical cost, are translated
at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised
in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to MNT at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates that the fair values were determined.
(d) Financial instruments
(i) Classification
Trading instruments are those that the Bank principally holds for the purposes of short-term trading and liquidity
management.
Originated loans and receivables are loans and receivables created by the Bank providing money to a debtor other
than those created with the intention of short-term trading. Originated loans and receivables comprise loans and
advances to banks and customers.
Held-to-maturity assets are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Bank
has the intent and ability to hold to maturity.

Financial instruments are measured initially at cost, which should equal their fair value, when purchased or
originated by the Bank.
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(ii) Initial recognition

XacBank

Available-for-sale assets are financial assets that are not held for trading purposes, originated by the Bank, or held
to maturity. Available-for-sale instruments include certain investment securities held by the Bank.
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XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

If the transaction is not based on market terms, or if a market price cannot be readily determined, then an
estimate of future cash payments or receipts, discounted using the current market interest rate for a similar
financial instrument, should be used to approximate the fair value. The difference between the fair value of the
financial instruments and the consideration given or received is recognised directly in the income statement unless
it qualifies for recognition as financial asset/liability under another applicable IFRS.
(iii) Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, all trading instruments and all available-for-sale assets are measured at fair
market value, except that any instrument that does not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair market value cannot be reliably measured is stated at cost, including transaction costs, less impairment
losses.
All non-trading financial liabilities, originated loans and receivables and held-to-maturity assets are measured
at amortised cost less impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method.
Premiums and discounts, including initial transaction costs, are included in the carrying amount of the related
instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate of the instrument.
(e) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, balances with other banks and balances with the Bank of
Mongolia.
(f) Loans and advances
Loans and advances originated by the Bank are classified as originated loans and receivables. Loans and advances
are reported net of allowances to reflect the estimated recoverable amounts (refer to accounting policy (j)).
(g) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Cost
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (refer below) and impairment
losses (refer to accounting policy (j)). The initial cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price, including import duties, non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after property,
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, are
normally charged to income in the year in which the costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly
demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be
obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of
performance, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of property, plant and equipment.

XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(CONTINUED)

(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each
part of an item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
•

buildings

40 years

•

motor vehicles

10 years

•

office equipment

10 years

•

computers

5 years

(h) Construction in progress
Construction in progress represents the cost of construction of new buildings and premises, which have not
been fully completed or installed. No depreciation is provided for construction in progress during the period of
construction.
(i) Intangible Assets
(i) Cost
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Bank are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (refer below) and
impairment losses (refer to accounting policy (j)).
(ii) Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. The estimated useful lives are as follows:•

Software and licenses

3-5 years

•

Patents and rights

3-5 years

(j) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Bank’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

If in a subsequent period the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the write down, the write-down or allowance is reversed through the income statement.
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Loans and advances are presented net of allowances for uncollectability. Allowances are made against the carrying
amount of loans and advances that are identified as being potentially impaired, based on regular reviews of
outstanding balances, to reduce these loans and advances to their recoverable amount. Increases in the allowance
account are recognised in the income statement. When a loan is known to be uncollectible, all the necessary legal
procedures have been completed and the final loss has been determined, the loan is written off directly.

XacBank

(i) Originated loans and advances
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XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(CONTINUED)

(ii) Assets other than loans and advances
The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised
in the income statement.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised. All reversals of impairment are recognised in the income statement.
(k) Non-trading financial liabilities
Non-trading financial liabilities include deposits from customers and from other financial institutions, interestbearing borrowings and other amounts payable. Non-trading financial liabilities are initially stated at cost.
Subsequent to the initial recognition, they are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redemption value being recognised in the statement of income over the period of the instrument on an effective
interest basis.
(l) Grants
Grants are recognised initially in the balance sheet as deferred grants when there is reasonable assurance that they
will be receivable and that the Bank will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate
the Bank for expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in the statement of income on a systematic basis in the
same period in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Bank for the cost of an asset are
recognised in the statement of income on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.
(m) Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Bank has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of
a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If
the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risk specific to
the liability.
(n) Revenue
(i) Interest income
Interest income and expense is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, taking into account the effective
yield of the asset. Interest income and expense include the amortisation of any discount or premium or other
differences between the carrying amount of an interest bearing instrument and its amount at maturity calculated
on an effective interest rate basis.

XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(CONTINUED)

(ii) Fee income and commission
Fee and commission income is charged to customers for the financial services provided. Fee and commission
income is recognised when the corresponding service is provided.
(iii) Rental income
Rental income from leased property is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

(o) Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the
total lease expense.
(p) Income tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the
statement of income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which case it is
recognised in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using the tax rates approved at
balance sheet date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not provided for temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using the tax rates
approved at balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised in the financial statements only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax
assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
(q) Employee benefits
(i) Defined contribution plan
Employee benefits include statutory social insurance payments to the State Social Insurance Scheme. Contributions
to this defined contribution plan are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

63

The Employee Stock Ownership Plan allows the Bank’s staff to hold XAC-GE shares through an employee
investment trust company, EIT LLC. The purchase price is at 30% of the par value of XAC-GE shares. No change
is made to the Bank’s total share capital and no compensation cost is recognised by the Bank.

XacBank

(ii) Equity compensation benefits
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XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(CONTINUED)

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

Cash on hand

2,100,229

1,052,516

Balances with other banks

6,852,474

4,204,447

Balances with the Bank of Mongolia

3,255,842

1,392,439

12,208,545

6,649,402

Total cash and cash equivalents

Balances are maintained with the Bank of Mongolia in accordance with the Bank of Mongolia’s requirements and
bear no interest. Balances are determined based on average deposits and liabilities balances.

4. INVESTMENT SECURITIES – AVAILABLE FOR SALE

Bank of Mongolia bills
Other debt securities

Allowance for impairment losses

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

1,104,661

366,714

500

604,500

1,105,161

971,214

-

(6,045)

1,105,161

965,169

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

5. LOANS AND ADVANCES

Loans and advances to customers

37,183,513

19,819,550

Loans to staff

768,000

463,307

Loans to executive officers

126,376

30,700

38,077,889

20,313,557

Allowance for loan losses
Net loans and advances

(127,607)

(268,561)

37,950,282

20,044,996

Included in the gross balance of loans and advances is an amount of non-performing loans of MNT370 million
(2004: MNT210 million).

XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(CONTINUED)

5. LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED)
(i) Movements in the allowance for loan losses during the year are as follows:
Specific

General

Total

allowances

allowances

MNT’000

MNT’000

MNT’000

At 1 January 2004

64,116

107,653

171,769

Charge for the year

172,729

93,385

266,114

(2,188)

-

(2,188)

(167,134)

-

(167,134)

At 31 December 2004 / 1 January 2005

67,523

201,038

268,561

Charge for the year

70,569

-

70,569

-

(201,038)

(201,038)

Written off

(10,485)

-

(10,485)

At 31 December 2005

127,607

-

127,607

Allowance for loan losses

Written back
Written off

Written back

The Bank had written back its 1% general provision for all its performing loans during the year to be in compliance
with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Trading
Food processing

2004
MNT’000

1,726,861

1,722,440

15,677,211

9,726,531

787,028

531,917

Services

2,911,046

1,554,131

Consumption

7,577,500

5,239,542

Agriculture

2,470,119

509,114

Mortgage

4,664,828

-

Deposit backed

1,251,998

423,410

Other

116,922

112,465

Loans to staff

768,000

463,307

Loans to executive officers

Others include borrowers in construction, mining and education.

126,376

30,700

38,077,889

20,313,557
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Textile and production

2005
MNT’000

XacBank

(ii) Loans and advances can be analysed by industry as follows:
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XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(CONTINUED)

5. LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED)
(iii) The Bank’s provisioning policy is as follows:
Loan Classification

Days in arrears

Provision

Current

Nil

0%

Past due

1-90 days

5%

Substandard/Restructured

91-180 days

40%

Doubtful

181-270 days

75%

>270 days

100%

Bad

The allowance for loan losses as 31 December 2005 is as follows.

Loan Status

Allowance for loan loss

Outstanding

Share of

Loan Portfolio

total

Percentage

Current

37,707,692

99.10%

0%

Past Due

191,955

0.50%

5%

9,598

Substandard

75,296

0.20%

40%

30,118

Doubtful

47,248

0.10%

75%

35,436

Bad

50,293

0.10%

100%

50,293

5,405

-

Restructured

38,077,889

MNT ‘000
-

40%

2,162

100%

127,607

(iv) Historical trend shows that the allowance for loan losses are sufficient to cover loans write-offs.

A Average reserve
B Write offs
C Coverage (A/B)

2002

2003

2004

2005

MNT’000

MNT’000

MNT’000

MNT’000

49,759

120,784

220,165

198,084

2,162

13,109

167,134

10,485

23.0

9.2

1.3

18.9

Average reserve is determined based on the average of the beginning and ending balance of the allowance for
loan losses of each year.

XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(CONTINUED)

5. LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED)
Restructuring or renegotiating is done on case by case basis. A loan can be restructured only if a borrower
faces temporary cash flow problem which would have reasonable evidence of future recovery. The proposal to
restructure a loan is prepared by a credit officer and the final decision is made at HQ by the Credit Committee.
Restructured loans are subsequently reported to the Board.
Before writing off a loan, work out actions are initially taken by the respective branches where the loan was
disbursed, followed by the work out unit at the HQ. When all attempts fail, the proposal to write off is then
presented to the Risk Managements Committee or the Board of the Bank . For loans with outstanding balance of
less than USD4,000, the decision to write off the loans is made by the Risk Management Committee of the Bank.
The decision to write off loans above USD4,000 is made by the Board of the Bank.
(v) Related Party Loans

Principal balance
outstanding
Borrower

MNT ‘000

Loan term

Status

Executive Officers

126,376

12-120 months

Performing

Board member

189,779

11-60 months

Performing

Staff loans

768,000

1-120 months

696 Performing
1 Restructured
2 Past Due
1 Bad

1,084,155
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Loans to staff and executive officers are disbursed within the limit pre-approved by the Board of the Bank. All
related party loans are reported to the Bank of Mongolia monthly and to the Board of the Bank quarterly. Loan
request, review, disbursement and monitoring procedures similar to those applied to the other borrowers.
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XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(CONTINUED)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Buildings

Motor

Office

Computers

Construction

Total

MNT’000

vehicles

equipment

MNT’000

in progress

MNT’000

MNT’000

MNT’000

943,607

579,304

385,513

823,617

269,820 3,001,861

Additions

2,573,076

447,665

136,659

594,706

266,941 4,019,047

Disposals

-

(118,003)

(16,052)

(74,842)

-

(208,897)

Write-off

-

-

-

(23,550)

-

(23,550)

105,400

-

-

-

(105,400)

-

3,622,083

908,966

506,120

1,319,931

At 1 January 2005

36,789

89,796

75,744

362,025

-

564,354

Charge for the year

81,285

66,003

43,639

219,014

-

409,941

-

(42,590)

(2,987)

(36,636)

-

(82,213)

MNT’000

Cost
At 1 January 2005

Transfer
At 31 December 2005

431,361 6,788,461

Accumulated depreciation

Disposals

-

-

-

(23,550)

-

(23,550)

118,074

113,209

116,396

520,853

-

868,532

At 31 December 2005

3,504,009

795,757

389,724

799,078

431,361 5,919,929

At 31 December 2004

906,818

489,508

309,769

461,592

269,820 2,437,507

15,695

41,782

3,859

159,622

Write-off
At 31 December 2005
Net book value

Depreciation charge for year ended
31 December 2004

-

220,958
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost
Opening balance

Software

Patents and

Total

and Licenses

Rights

MNT’000

MNT’000

MNT’000

-

-

-

Acquisition during the year

114,133

1,050

115,183

Closing balance

114,133

1,050

115,183

Amortisation
Opening balance

-

-

-

Amortisation charge for the year

2,427

-

2,427

Closing balance

2,427

-

2,427

At 31 December 2005

111,706

1,050

112,756

At 31 December 2004

-

-

-

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

Prepaid expenses

701,263

637,131

Supplies and low value assets

467,658

253,444

Accrued interest receivable

685,501

391,544

Other receivables

101,204

219,578

-

-

1,955,626

1,501,697

Net book value

8. OTHER ASSETS

Foreclosed properties

69

During the year, other receivables amounting to MNT 80,000 (2004: MNT141,000) were written off against
impairment losses.

XacBank

Foreclosed properties and other receivables are presented net of impairment loss amounting to MNT1,500,000
and MNT5,711,000 respectively (2004: MNT1,500,000 and MNT4,738,000).
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9. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

Current accounts
Demand deposits
Time deposits

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

3,671,545

1,364,484

6,338,161

3,398,260

20,888,453

10,933,685

30,898,159

15,696,429

Current accounts bear interest at a rate of 2.4% (2004: 3.6%) per annum applicable to individual balances more
than MNT5 million. Demand deposits bear interest at a rate of approximately 7.25% (2004: 6%) per annum.
Time deposits bear interest at rates ranging from 6% to 16.8% (2004: 4.2% to 18%) per annum.

10. DEPOSITS FROM LOCAL FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Deposit from Mongol Post Bank
Deposit from Zoos Bank

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

800,000

800,000

2,000,000

-

-

181,350

2,800,000

981,350

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

Loan from Mongol Post Bank

800,000

800,000

Loan from Chinggis Khaan Bank

500,000

-

-

1,800,000

1,300,000

2,600,000

Deposit from UB City Bank

11. LOANS FROM LOCAL FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Loan from Golomt Bank
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12. LOANS FROM FOREIGN FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

Loan from Deutsche Bank Micro Credit Development Fund (“DBMCDF”)

152,625

151,125

Loan from International Finance Corporation (“IFC”)

439,560

483,600

1,831,500

604,500

610,500

241,800

Loan from Microvest 1, LP

1,831,500

1,813,500

Loan from ASN-Novib Fonds

1,221,000

1,209,000

Loan from Oikocredit

2,200,237

-

610,500

-

Loan from Dexia Micro Credit Fund (“DMCF”)
Loan from Calvert Social Investment Foundation (“CSIF”)

Loan from Shorecap International LTD
Loan from Triodos Doen
Loan from Credit Suisse Microfinance Fund (“CSMF”)

1,170,685

-

-

604,500

10,068,107

5,108,025

The loan from the DBMCDF is in the form of subordinated debt issued by the Bank for a principal amount of
USD125,000. The loan bears interest at a rate of 2% (2004: 2%) per annum and is repayable in August 2007.
The loan from IFC, amounting to USD400,000, bears interest at a rate of LIBOR+3.5% (2004: LIBOR+3.5%). The
loan is repayable in twelve semi-annual instalments which commenced on 15 January 2005.
The loan from DMCF comprises the following:
(i) A promissory note issued by the Bank for a principal amount of USD500,000. The note bears interest
at a rate of LIBOR+6% (2004: LIBOR+6%) per annum. The loan is repayable in four equal two-monthly
instalments of USD125,000 each, commencing in February 2006.
(ii) A promissory note issued by the Bank for a principal amount of USD1,000,000. The note bears interest at
a rate of 9.75% per annum. The loan is repayable in two equal semi-annual instalments of USD500,000
each, commencing in December 2006.
The loan from CSIF is in the form of a promissory note issued by the Bank for a principal amount of USD500,000.
The note bears interest at a rate of 6% per annum and is repayable in July 2008.
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The loan from ASN-Novib Fonds, amounting to USD1,000,000, bears interest at a rate of 9% per annum. The
loan is repayable in three instalments commencing in May 2006.

XacBank

The loan from Microvest 1, LP, amounting to USD1,500,000, bears interest at a rate of LIBOR+5.21%. The loan
is repayable in three equal instalments commencing February 2006.
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12. LOANS FROM FOREIGN FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED)
The loan from Oikocredit comprises the following:
(i) MNT444,690,000 which bears interest at a rate of 13% per annum. The loan is repayable in August
2006.
(ii) USD724,920 which bears interest at a rate of LIBOR+5.75% per annum. The loan is repayable in four
equal semi-annual instalments commencing April 2007.
(iii) EUR600,000 which bears interest at a rate of EURIBOR+5.75% per annum. The loan is repayable in four
equal semi-annual instalments commencing April 2007.
The loan from Shorecap International LTD, amounting to USD 500,000, bears interest at a rate of 9% per annum.
The loan is repayable in four equal quarterly instalments commencing December 2007.

The loan from Triodos Doen comprises of the following:
(i) USD 500,000 which bears interest at a rate of 9% per annum. The loan is repayable in October 2008.
(ii) MNT 560,185,000 which bears interest at a rate of 13% per annum. The loan is repayable in October
2008.
The loan from CSMF has been fully repaid during the year.
These loans are to support further expansion of the Bank’s micro-finance and small-medium enterprise lending
activities and to strengthen the Bank’s technical capability.

13. LOANS FROM GOVERNMENT AGENCIES
2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

Loan from Employment Generation Support Fund

500,000

500,000

Loan from Asian Development Bank (ADB)

497,136

493,169

Loan from Micro Finance Development Fund

918,811

237,711

1,361,988

267,730

42,200

-

-

150,289

3,320,135

1,648,899

Loan from International Foundation for Agricultural Development (IFAD)
Loan from Employment Generation Project
Loan from United Nations Development Funds (UNDP)

The objective of the loan from Employment Generation Support Fund is to channel funds to small business entities
and individuals. The loan, which is in Mongolian Togrog, bears interest at a rate of 6% (2004: 6%) per annum
and is repayable on 10 June 2006.
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13. LOANS FROM GOVERNMENT AGENCIES (CONTINUED)
The ADB loan was channelled through the Bank of Mongolia. The objective of the loan is to develop Mongolia’s
agricultural sector. The loan, which is in Mongolia Togrog, bears interest of 5.5% per annum (2004: 5.5% per
annum) and is repayable on 5 September 2006.
The objective of the loan from Micro Finance Development Fund is to support and improve the living standard in
the rural areas. The loan, which is in Mongolian Togrog, bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum and is repayable
on June 2006.
The objective of the loan from International Foundation for Agricultural Development (“IFAD”) is to support and
reduce the poverty in the rural areas. The loan, which amounted to USD1,823,380, is to be disbursed from March
2004 to December 2009. It bears interest at a rate of 6% per annum and is repayable in 10 equal semi-annual
instalments commencing from June 2013.
The loan from Employment Generation Project was channelled through Bank of Mongolia amounting to MNT
42,200,000 bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum. The loan is repayable on October 2006.

14. DEFERRED GRANTS
2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

26,164

30,732

7,659

7,584

92,331

91,420

(“IGP”)

710

2,174

Others

126,864

131,910

Grant from Consultative Group to Assist the Poorest (“CGAP”)
Grant from International Finance Corporation (“IFC”)
Grant from microenterprise Implementation Grant Program

Develop internal systems that meet the requirements and needs of a micro-finance bank;

•

Secure higher standard of external audit services; and

•

Strengthen senior management and governance, in particular, financial management and banking
skills.

The IFC grant was received during 2002 with the objective of providing funds for technical assistance in the
following initiatives: technical advice, training for senior managers with an established micro-finance institution
and participation by an international participant in the meetings of the Bank’s Board of Directors and training for
the Bank’s Board members.
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•

XacBank

The CGAP grant was approved in 2001 with the objective of assisting the X.A.C Co., Ltd in making a successful
transition to a micro-finance bank. The grant allows the Bank to carry out the following activities:
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14. DEFERRED GRANTS (CONTINUED)
The IGP grant was received during 2003 from United States Agency for International Development (USAID) with
the objective of assisting the Bank in expanding its branch network, training staff and developing new products
and services, as well as internal systems needed to control growth.
Expenditure financed by grants:
Donor and Purpose

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

-

31,702

4,767

17,200

1,461

766

187,814

82,601

33,516

-

227,558

132,269

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

Interest payable

675,321

353,232

Remittances payable

150,550

16,006

Other payables

161,916

172,165

987,787

541,403

Expenditure financed by grants from International Finance Corporation (“IFC”)
covering internal audit consultancy, training and exposure trip
Expenditure financed by grants from Consultative Group to Assist the Poorest
(“CGAP”) covering consulting fee
Expenditure financed by grants from United Nations Development Program
(“UNDP”) covering scholarships to students
Expenditure financed by grants from USAID’s Income Generation Project covering
facility improvements
Expenditure financed by grants from USAID’s Income Generation Project covering
Internal systems development & IT audit consultancy, training and exposure trip

15. OTHER LIABILITIES
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16. SHARE CAPITAL
In number of shares

2005

2004

In issue at 1 January

4,205,530

3,004,000

Issued for cash

3,324,750

940,000

503,920

261,530

8,034,200

4,205,530

Capitalisation of retained profits
In issue at 31 December - fully paid

During the year, the authorised share capital of the Bank had increased from MNT6,000 million to MNT8,200
million, which consists of 8,200,000 common shares of MNT1,000 per share.
The Bank increased its share capital during the year as follows:
(a) The issue of 3,324,750 common shares of MNT1,000 each for a total consideration of
MNT3,324,750,000.
(b) The issue of 503,920 common shares of MNT 1,000 each by the capitalisation of retained profits of
MNT503,920,000.
The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Bank. All shares rank equally with regard to the Bank’s residual assets.
As at 31 December 2005, 99.78% (2004: 94%) of the issued shares are owned by XAC-GE LLC, a holding
company, and 0.22% (2004: 6%) are owned by other shareholders.

17. INTEREST INCOME

Loans and advances
Balances with other banks
Investment securities

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

9,413,196

5,746,713

308,813

93,212

111,993

96,493

9,834,002

5,936,418

2005

2004
MNT’000

2,798,740

1,456,743

Deposits and loans from financial institutions and government agencies

1,435,961

517,834

4,234,701

1,974,577

75

MNT’000
Deposits from customers

XacBank

18. INTEREST EXPENSE
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19. NET FEES AND COMMISSIONS INCOME

Fees and commissions income
Fees and commissions expense

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

730,632

400,065

(73,081)

(15,170)

657,551

384,895

Net fees and commissions income includes loan application fees, payment service fees, loan commissions and
money transfer service fees.

20. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

Rental income

64,493

74,527

Other income

16,223

34,131

80,716

108,658

Included in other income are gains from disposal of property and equipment and penalty income.

21. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Included in general and administrative expenses are:

Staff costs
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Maintenance of property, plant and equipment
Rental expense

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

1,981,607

1,441,758

409,941

220,958

2,427

-

26,852

11,748

211,728

350,040
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22. (WRITE BACK)/ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

(Write back)/Allowance for loan losses, net

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

(130,469)

263,926

Other assets

1,053

4,920

(6,045)

6,045

(135,461)

274,891

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

631,849

262,000

Investment securities

23. DIVIDEND

Ordinary:
Dividend paid

During the year, the Bank distributed a final cash dividend of MNT127,929,575 in respect of year ended 31
December 2004.

24. CORPORATE INCOME TAX

Current tax expense

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

653,738

423,085

2005

2004

RECOGNISED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT:

Profit before tax
Tax at income tax rate of 30%

MNT’000

MNT’000

2,142,666

1,210,579

642,800

363,174

78,370

53,267

(46,321)

(13,982)

(15,000)

(15,000)

(6,111)

35,626

653,738

423,085

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
Tax effect of tax exempt income

Other items
Income tax expense

The calculation of income tax is subject to the review and approval of the tax authorities.
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income up to MNT100 million

XacBank

Tax effect of progressive tax rate of 15% (2004: 15%) on the portion of taxable
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According to Mongolian Tax Laws, the Bank has an obligation to pay the Government Income Tax at the rate of
15% (2004: 15%) of the portion of taxable profits up to MNT100 million and 30% (2004: 30%) of the portion
of taxable profits above MNT100 million.

25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Equity compensation benefits
Under the Bank’s Employee Stock Ownership Plan, shares are allocated to employees on the following
conditions:
•

Employment duration with the Bank and its predecessor companies must be at least one year;

•

Performance rating in the most recent evaluation period; and

•

No disciplinary action is pending or due.

The number of shares offered for sale and its price will be determined at the discretion of the Bank’s Board.
The shares were offered at a price of 30% of the par value of XAC-GE shares. Prior to 2005, the Plan enables
employees to purchase shares in XacBank LLC already held by XAC-GE Group. From 2005 onwards, the Employee
Stock Ownership Plan allows the Bank’s staff to hold the Bank’s holding company’s shares, XAC-GE shares,
instead through an employee investment trust company, EIT LLC. In return, all XacBank’s shares previously held by
the employees are transferred to EIT LLC. The share capital of XacBank LLC is not affected by these transactions.
The Bank does not bear or incur any cost in connection with these transactions.

26. SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The Bank has a controlling related party relationship with XAC-GE LLC, the holding company.
The Bank also has a related party relationship with the shareholders of XAC-GE LLC (see note 1), and with its
directors and executive officers.
As at 31 December 2005, executive officers of the Bank held nil (2004: 10,298) voting shares of the Bank.
During the year the Bank had the following transactions with related parties:

Loans to executive officers

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

126,376

30,700

=========

========

The loans to executive officers are included in loans and advances of the Bank (see note 5).
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Total remuneration of directors and executive officers included in general and administrative expenses:

Directors
Executive officers

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

52,624

52,832

93,257

76,542

145,881

129,374

27. CAPITAL ADEQUACY
The Bank of Mongolia requires banks to maintain a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 10%, compiled on the
basis of total equity and total assets as adjusted for their risk. As at 31 December 2005, the Bank’s core capital
ratio and risk weighted capital ratio are 21% (2004: 19%) and 21% (2004: 19%) respectively.
Components of Tier I and Tier II capital:

2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

Tier I capital
Share capital

8,034,200

4,205,530

Share premium

8,551

8,551

General reserve

13,864

13,864

Retained earnings

1,488,986

631,907

Total capital

9,545,601

4,859,852

Tier II capital

-

-

9,545,601

4,859,852

Total Tier I and Tier II capital

2004
MNT’000

6,450,438

2,813,955

10

-

-

20

6,852,474

4,204,447

50

4,673,022

-

100

41,284,557

25,116,231

Total

59,260,491

31,604,816

0

79

2005
MNT’000

Risk weighted factor (%)

XacBank

Breakdown of risk weighted assets as follows:
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURE

This section provides details of the Bank’s exposure to risk and describes the methods used by management to
control risk. Because of the Bank’s activities, which are predominantly non-trading, assets structure consists
mainly of loans and advances, and their financing, which is mainly from deposits from customers. The most
important types of financial risk to which the Bank is exposed are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and,
to a less extent, foreign currency risk.
Below is a discussion of these risks and the approach taken to manage them:
(i) Credit risk
The Bank’s primary exposure to credit risk arises through its loans and advances. The amount of credit risk
exposure in this regard is represented by the carrying amounts of the assets on the balance sheet.
The Bank structures the level of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk acceptable to one
individual borrower or a group of borrowers and to an industry sector. Exposure to credit risk is managed through
regular analysis of the ability of the borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment
obligations. Credit limit is changed when needed. Exposure to credit risk is also managed by obtaining collateral
and corporate and personal guarantees.
The major concentration of credit risk arises by industry sector in relation to the Bank’s loans and advances to
customers. See note 5 for analysis of total loans and advances to customers by industry sector. The Bank has no
significant exposure to any individual borrower.
(ii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Bank’s activities and in the management of its positions. It
includes both risk of being unable to fund assets at appropriate maturities and rates and risk of being unable to
liquidate an asset at a reasonable price in an appropriate time frame.
The Bank has access to a diverse funding base. Funds are raised using a broad range of instruments including
deposits, interest-bearing borrowings from local and overseas financial institutions and share capital. This
enhances funding flexibility and limits dependence on any source of funds or any fund provider. The Bank
continually assesses liquidity risk by identifying and monitoring changes in funding required to meet business
goals and targets set in terms of the overall strategy.
In addition, the Bank holds a portfolio of liquid assets as part of its liquidity risk management policy.

500,000
1,221,000
751,046

799,755
176,968

Loans from foreign financial institutions

Loans from government agencies

Other liabilities

7,975,033

4,486,166

Cumulative total

XacBank

3,488,867

4,486,166

Net financial assets / (liabilities)

81

244,169
7,834,342

740,718
20,145,410

Loans from local financial institutions

Deposits from local financial institutions

-

5,118,127

15,627,969
2,800,000

Deposits from customers

Financial liabilities

166,902

10,057,407

11,323,209

11,726,488

Loans and advances

-

1,300,782

1,105,161

Investment securities

-

1,098,900

24,631,576

3,255,842

Balances with the Bank of Mongolia

Other assets

5,143,074

Balances with other banks

MNT’000

-

months
MNT’000

three months

2,100,229

Three to six

Less than

Cash on hand

Financial assets

As at 31 December 2005

10,344,872

2,369,839

7,700,994

2,900

230,178

2,770,695

800,000

-

3,897,221

10,070,833

721

9,459,612

-

-

610,500

-

MNT’000

to one year

Six months

5,081,967

(5,262,905)

8,671,558

-

799,955

5,276,657

-

-

2,594,946

3,408,653

19,563

3,389,090

-

-

-

-

MNT’000

years

One to five

The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the Bank into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining periods to repayment:
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3,377,768

(1,704,199)

5,021,884

-

1,361,988

-

-

-

3,659,896

3,317,685

-

3,317,685

-

-

-

-

MNT’000

years

Over five

3,377,768

49,374,188

987,787

3,320,135

10,068,107

1,300,000

2,800,000

30,898,159

52,751,956

1,487,968

37,950,282

1,105,161

3,255,842

6,852,474

2,100,229

MNT’000

Total

4,786,779
4,786,779

Cumulative total

4,340,934

10,240,305

Net financial assets/(liabilities)

66,303

332,301

Other liabilities

7,163,529

2,376,750

627,493

153,825

Loan from government agencies

1,233,180

800,000

-

1,613,958

779,805

-

981,350

7,993,024

6,717,684

15,027,084

Loans from foreign financial institutions

Loans from local financial institutions

Deposits from local financial institutions

Deposits from customers

Financial liabilities

432,979

6,284,705

-

-

-

-

796,665

8,423,303

Loans and advances

Other assets

366,714

1,392,439

Balances with the Bank of Mongolia

Investment securities

2,995,447

MNT’000

MNT’000

1,052,516

months

Balances with other banks

Three to six

Less than
three months

Cash on hand

Financial assets

As at 31 December 2004
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Six months

6,456,760

(706,769)

6,863,031

142,799

406,170

1,662,375

1,800,000

-

2,851,687

6,156,262

16,628

4,332,179

598,455

-

1,209,000

-

MNT’000

to one year

4,785,735

(1,671,025)

2,677,815

-

193,681

1,432,665

-

-

1,051,469

1,006,790

1,981

1,004,809

-

-

-

-

MNT’000

years

One to five

2,331,714

(2,454,021)

2,454,021

-

267,730

-

-

-

2,186,291

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

MNT’000

years

Over five

965,169

1,392,439

4,204,447

1,052,516

MNT’000

Total
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2,331,714

26,576,106

541,403

1,648,899

5,108,025

2,600,000

981,350

15,696,429

28,907,820

1,248,253

20,044,996
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(CONTINUED)

28. RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)
(iii) Interest rate risk
The Bank’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations to the extent that interest-earning assets
and interest-bearing liabilities mature or reprice at different times or in different amounts. In the case of floating
rate assets and liabilities the Bank is also exposed to basis risk, which is the difference in repricing characteristics
of the various floating rate indices, such as six months LIBOR and different types of interest. Risk management
activities are aimed at optimising net interest income, given market interest rate levels consistent with the Bank’s
business strategies.
Assets-liabilities risk management activities are conducted in the context of the Bank’s sensitivity to interest
rate changes. Interest rate risk is managed by increasing or decreasing positions within limits set by the Bank’s
management. These limits restrict the potential effect of movement in interest rates on interest margin and on
the value of interest sensitive assets and liabilities.
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The table below summarises repricing mismatches on the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities at the balance
sheet date. The carrying amounts of interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities are presented in the periods in
which they next reprice to market rate or mature, and are summed to show the interest rate sensitivity gap.

Net financial assets / (liabilities)

-

6.42%

Loans from government agencies

Other liabilities

9.38%

12.00%

9.80%

10.48%

Loans from foreign financial institutions

Loans from local financial institutions

Deposits from local financial institutions

Deposits from customers

Financial liabilities

-

30.59%

Loans and advances

Other assets

6.79%

-

7.19%

-

%

interest rate

Effective

Investment securities

Balances with the Bank of Mongolia

Balances with other banks

Cash on hand

Financial assets

As at 31 December 2005

28. RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

6,844,034

5,856,247

987,787
3,377,768

987,787

987,787

-

-

-

-

49,374,188

3,320,135

10,068,107

1,300,000

2,800,000

-

1,487,968

-

-

3,255,842

-

2,100,229

MNT’000

1,487,968

30,898,159

Less than

(1,489,359)

19,404,692

-

176,968

799,755

-

2,800,000

15,627,969

17,915,333

-

11,667,098

1,105,161

-

5,143,074

-

MNT’000

sensitive three months

Non-interest

52,751,956

37,950,282

1,105,161

3,255,842

6,852,474

2,100,229

MNT’000

Total

XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005 (CONTINUED)

3,620,944

7,590,173

-

751,046

1,221,000

500,000

-

5,118,127

11,211,117

-

10,112,217

-

-

1,098,900

-

MNT’000

months

Three to six

2,828,531

13,952,936

-

230,178

2,770,695

800,000

-

10,152,063

16,781,467

-

16,170,967

-

-

610,500

-

MNT’000

to one year

Six months

(6,076,612)

6,076,612

-

799,955

5,276,657

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

MNT’000

years

One to five

Annual Report 2005

(1,361,988)

1,361,988

-

1,361,988

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

MNT’000

years

Over five
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Net financial assets/(liabilities)

Other liabilities

-

6.30%

Loans from government agencies

15.00%

Loans from local financial institutions
8.06%

13.30%

Deposits from local financial institutions

Loans from foreign financial institutions

12.00%

Deposits from customers

Financial liabilities

-

35.79%

Loans and advances

Other assets

12.66%

-

6.63%

-

interest rate

Effective

Investment securities

Balances with the Bank of Mongolia

Balances with other banks

Cash on hand

Financial assets

As at 31 December 2005

28. RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

3,787,055

981,350

3,245,652

541,403
2,331,714

541,403

541,403

-

-

-

-

26,576,106

1,648,899

5,108,025

2,600,000

-

1,248,253

-

-

1,392,439

93,847

1,052,516

MNT’000

1,248,253

15,696,429

Less than

(942,682)

12,634,299

-

153,825

3,506,100

-

981,350

7,993,024

11,691,617

-

8,423,303

366,714

-

2,901,600

MNT’000

sensitive three months

Non-interest

28,907,820

20,044,996

965,169

1,392,439

4,204,447

1,052,516

MNT’000

Total

XACBANK LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005 (CONTINUED)

5,494

6,279,211

-

627,493

-

800,000

-

4,851,718

6,284,705

-

6,284,705

-

-

-

-

MNT’000

months

Three to six

1,081,777

5,057,857

-

406,170

-

1,800,000

-

2,851,687

6,139,634

-

4,332,179

598,455

-

1,209,000

-

MNT’000

to one year

Six months

(790,797)

1,795,606

-

193,681

1,601,925

-

-

-

1,004,809

-

1,004,809

-

-

-

-

MNT’000

years

One to five

(267,730)

(267,730)

-

267,730

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

MNT’000

years

Over five
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Net financial assets/(liabilities)

3,218,786

158,982

14,099,499

1,361,988

35,274,689

1,958,147

Loans from government agencies

9,063,232

240,949

1,004,875

Loans from foreign financial institutions

-

-

3,433,330

746,838

1,300,000

Loans from local financial institutions

Other liabilities

2,800,000

27,464,829

Deposits from local financial institutions

Deposits from customers

Financial liabilities

7,360,773

14,258,481

30,589,509

Loans and advances

-

38,493,475

1,105,161

Investment securities

25,296

452,447

3,230,546

Balances with the Bank of Mongolia

757,401
5,662,564

1,035,521

1,189,910

Other assets

1,342,828

Balances with other banks

MNT’000

MNT’000

Cash on hand

Financial assets

Foreign
currencies

MNT
denominated

Total

MNT

3,377,768

49,374,188

987,787

3,320,135

10,068,107

1,300,000

2,800,000

30,898,159

52,751,956

1,487,968

37,950,282

1,105,161

3,255,842

6,852,474

2,907,451

18,877,485

399,007

1,381,169

-

2,600,000

981,350

13,515,959

21,784,936

823,740

18,480,739

366,714

1,250,932

38,125

824,686

MNT’000

(575,737)

7,698,629

142,396

267,730

5,108,025

-

-

2,180,470

7,122,884

424,513

1,564,257

598,455

141,507

4,166,322

227,830

MNT’000

currencies

Foreign

31 December 2004

MNT’000 denominated

2,100,229

31 December 2005

The Bank’s transactional exposures comprise the monetary assets and monetary liabilities that are not denominated in the measurement currency. These exposures are as follows:

2,331,714

26,576,106

541,403

1,648,899

5,108,025

2,600,000

981,350

15,696,429

28,907,820

1,248,253

20,044,996

965,169

1,392,439

4,204,447

1,052,516

MNT’000

Total

The Bank is exposed to foreign currency risk through transactions in foreign currencies, primarily in USD. The Bank’s management sets limits on the level of exposure by currencies. These limits have been
set below the minimum requirements of the Bank of Mongolia.

(iv) Foreign currency risk
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(CONTINUED)

29. FAIR VALUE INFORMATION
As there is no active market for a large part of the Bank’s financial instruments, judgement is necessary in
estimating fair value, based on current economic conditions and specific risk attributable to the instrument.
Based on these estimates, fair value of financial assets and liabilities are considered to not differ significantly from
their carrying amount. The following methods and assumptions are used in estimating the fair value of financial
instruments:
(i) Loans and advances
The fair value of the loan portfolio is based on the credit and interest rate characteristics of each individual loan.
The estimation of the provision for loan losses includes consideration of risk premium applicable to various types
of loans based on factors such as the current situation of the borrower and collateral obtained. Accordingly, the
provision for loan losses is considered a reasonable estimate of the discount required to reflect the impact of the
credit risk. The carrying amount of loans is a reasonable estimate of their fair value.
(ii) Deposits from customers
For demand deposits and deposits with no defined maturity, fair value is taken to be the amount payable on
demand at the balance sheet date. The estimated fair value of fixed-maturity deposits is based on discounted
cash flows using rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities. As most of the deposits
have original maturity of less than one year and the rates offered by the Bank are similar to the market rate, the
carrying amount of deposits is considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair value.
(iii) Other financial assets and financial liabilities
The majority of other financial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank matures or reprices in less than one year.
Accordingly, their fair values do not significantly differ from their respective carrying amounts.

30. COMMITMENTS
2005

2004

MNT’000

MNT’000

-

2,418,000

Property, plant and equipment
Contracted but not provided for in the financial statements

31. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

These financial statements are also prepared in the Mongolian language. In the event of discrepancies or
contradictions between the English version and the Mongolian version, the English version will prevail.
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32. MONGOLIAN TRANSLATION

XacBank

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.

